The Porcine Endosalpinx at Different Reproductive Stages

Morphology, Immune Cell Infiltration and Cytokine Expression

Jatesada Jiwakanon

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Clinical Sciences, Division of Reproduction Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2009 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2009:12

Cover: Immunohistochemical labelling of TGF-β1 in isthmus (photo: J. Jiwakanon)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-86195-59-5 © 2009 Jatesada Jiwakanon, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2009

The Porcine Endosalpinx at Different Reproductive Stages. Morphology, Immune Cell Infiltration and Cytokine Expression

Abstract

Fertilization takes place in the lower part of the porcine oviduct and to be successful, a balance between immunological tolerance to allogeneic differences and immune reactivity to foreign pathogens is required. The thesis aims to describe immune cells and morphological changes in different segments [isthmus (Isth), ampulla (Amp) and infundibulum (Inf)] of the porcine oviduct at various stages of the oestrous cycle, after artificial insemination (AI, pre- and post-ovulatory) and during early pregnancy. The expression of pro-inflammatory and suppressive cytokines was also determined (RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry, IHC) in oviductal samples collected after AI with different components (fresh semen, spermatozoa in extender or extender alone) or only catheter inserted (control) in gilts. In cyclic sows, the epithelial morphology of Amp and Inf varied during the oestrous cycle. High levels of pseudostratification, mitotic activity and secretory granules were found at pro-oestrus/oestrus indicating influence of ovarian hormones. Lymphocytes were predominant in the epithelium whereas both lymphocytes and plasma cells were the major cell types in the connective tissue (CNT). Higher numbers of these cells were found in the Inf than in the Isth both in the cyclic sows and in sows after AI. Neutrophils were found mainly in the infundibular CNT, in cyclic sows at pro-oestrus and in pre-ovulatory inseminated sows in one group (40h after AI). In post-ovulatory inseminated sows, the numbers of neutrophils were lower but present for a longer period. In gilts, IHC-labelling for TGF- β 1, IL-10 and IL-6 was apparent, especially in the epithelial cells. Higher mRNA expressions of these cytokines were found in the 1sth compared with the Inf and the TGF-\u03b31 mRNA expression was higher than that of IL-6 and IL-10 in both segments. Shortly after AI, no difference between treatments could be detected for any of these cytokines but 35-40 h after AI, the TGF-B1 mRNA expressions were higher in gilts inseminated with different semen components than in the control animals (only catheter inserted). Thus, endogenous production of TGF-\$1, IL-10 and IL-6 was indicated and suggests that these cytokines have a physiological function in the porcine oviduct. The relatively higher expression of TGF-β1 mRNA indicates that this cytokine exerts an immunomodulatory role, mainly in the isthmic part of the oviduct, and this seems to be enhanced by AI. The differences between the upper and lower part of the porcine oviduct regarding presence of immune cells and expression of cytokines are likely to reflect a local immune modulation.

Keywords: Sow, Gilt, Oviduct, Immune cell, Cytokine, Seminal plasma, Insemination

Author's address: Jatesada Jiwakanon, Department of Clinical Sciences, SLU, Box 7054, 750 07, Uppsala, Sweden, *E-mail:* Jatesada.jiwakanon@kv.slu.se

Dedication

To my parents, my wife Nok, and my sons Tee and Poo

Contents

List of Publications			
Abbreviations	9		
Introduction	11		
The porcine oviduct	12		
Morphological aspects of the endosalpinx	13		
Functional aspects of the endosalpinx	14		
Immunological aspects of the oviduct	14		
The role of seminal plasma for the immune response	16		
Cytokine of interest to study in the oviduct	16		
General aspects on leukocyte subsets	17		
Aims of the study	21		
Materials and Methods	23		
Animals and the different experimental parts	23		
Semen preparation and artificial insemination			
Cytokine determination in seminal plasma and oviductal fluid	25		
Tissue collection and fixation	26		
Preparation of oviductal samples for morphological examination	27		
Immunohistochemistry	27		
Evaluation of morphology and leukocyte distribution	28		
Evaluation of cytokines	30		
Quantitative RT-PCR	30		
Statistical analyses	32		
General Results and Discussion	33		
Studies on sows			
Morphological findings in the sow oviduct	33		
Distribution of immune cells in the sow oviduct	35		
Subpopulations of cells identified by cell markers	35		
Effect of oestrous cycle stage	36		
Effects of pre-ovulatory insemination/early pregnancy	37		
Effects of post-ovulatory insemination	38		
Antibody-producing plasma cells in the oviduct	39		

Studies on gilts	
Cytokine expression in the oviduct	40
Effects of different inseminated components	40
Seminal plasma cytokines	41
Studies on sows and gilts	
Immune cell pattern and cytokine expression in different segments	
of the oviduct	42
Cytokine expression in the mesometrial lymph nodes	44
Summary of major findings	45
Concluding remarks and future aspects	47
References	51
Acknowledgements	63

List of Publications

The thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by Roman numerals:

- I Jiwakanon, J., Persson, E., Kaeoket, K., and Dalin, A.-M. (2005). The sow endosalpinx at different stages of the oestrous cycle and at anoestrus: studies on morphological changes and infiltration by cells of the immune system. *Reprod Dom Anim* 40, 28-39.
- II Jiwakanon, J., Persson, E., and Dalin, A.-M. (2006). The influence of pre- and post-ovulatory insemination and early pregnancy on the infiltration by cells of the immune system in the sow oviduct. *Reprod Dom Anim*, 41, 455-466.
- III Jiwakanon, J., Berg, M., Persson, E., Fossum, C., and Dalin, A.-M. Cytokine expression in the gilt oviduct. Part A: effects of seminal plasma and spermatozoa shortly after insemination (submitted).
- IV Jiwakanon, J., Persson, E., Berg, M., Fossum, C., and Dalin, A.-M. Cytokine expression in the gilt oviduct. Part B: effects of seminal plasma, spermatozoa and extender at 35-40 h after insemination (submitted).

Papers I and II are reproduced with kind permission of the journal concerned.

Abbreviations

AIa	Artificial insemination after ovulation
AIb	Artificial insemination before ovulation
AIJ	Ampullary-isthmic junction
Amp	Ampulla
BTS	Beltsville thawing solution
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CNT	Connective tissue
CReg	Complement regulator
C _T	Threshold cycle
DAB	3, 3'-diaminobenzidine
DC	Dendritic cell
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTPs	Deoxynucleotide triphosphates
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FasL	Fas-Fas ligand
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
HPRT	Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl-transferase
IELs	Intra-epithelial lymphocytes
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL	Interleukin
Inf	Infundibulum
Isth	Isthmus
Lfn	Lymph node
LM	Light microscopy
mAbs	Monoclonal antibodies

MHC	Major histocompatibility complex		
mRNA	messenger RNA		
NK	Natural killer		
NHS	Normal horse serum		
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline		
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction		
PMNs	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes		
qRT-PCR	Quantitative RT-PCR		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
RNase	Ribonuclease		
RT	Reverse transcriptase		
SLC	Single layer centrifugation		
SP	Seminal plasma		
Sub-CNT	Sub-epithelial CNT		
SWC	Swine workshop cluster		
TBS	Tris-buffered saline		
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy		
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta		
T _H	T helper		
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor		
UTJ	Uterotubal junction		

Introduction

The oviducts are narrow tubular organs with very complex functions in which final maturation and transport of the female and male gametes, as well as fertilization, take place (Hunter, 1998; Rodriguez-Martinez *et al.*, 2001). The mechanisms behind these diverse functions are still not fully understood (Brüssow *et al.*, 2008) and the local immune reactivity in particular needs to be explored.

The oviduct, like the other organs of the female reproductive tract, is under hormonal influence from the ovary, i.e. oestrogen from the follicles and progesterone from the corpora lutea. In pigs, the oestrogen levels increase during pro-oestrus to reach a peak at the start of standing oestrus, the stage when the animals are mated or inseminated. The progesterone levels increase after ovulation at metoestrus and reach a plateau during dioestrus. If the animal is not pregnant, the corpora lutea regress at late dioestrus and, as a result, a new cycle begins. If the animal is pregnant, luteal regression is prevented.

At natural mating or insemination, semen is deposited into the cervix/uterine body and then transported through the uterine horns up to the utero-tubal junctions and the oviducts. Semen is composed of allogeneic spermatozoa and seminal plasma (SP). SP contains various substances, e.g. oestrogens that affect uterine myometrial contraction (Claus, 1990), and proteins that interact with the spermatozoa and the oviductal environment (Topfer-Petersen *et al.*, 2008). It has been shown that approximately 25 % of the inseminated spermatozoa, and up to 70 % of the volume, are expelled retrogradely within a couple of hours (Steverink *et al.*, 1998). Large numbers of spermatozoa are also lost by intra-uterine neutrophil phagocytosis (Lovell & Getty, 1968; Matthijs *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, only a small fraction of the inseminated spermatozoa reach the lower part of the oviducts (isthmus)

where they remain viable (Mburu *et al.*, 1997) and reach final maturation before fertilization.

The mucosal surface of the female genital tract is protected by both innate and adaptive immune defense mechanisms (Wira *et al.*, 2005). The former include physical barriers, such as tight junctions of epithelial cells, antimicrobial secretions and non-specific phagocytic cells such as polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs), macrophages and NK cells. The adaptive immunity depends upon lymphocytes (especially located in or under the epithelia). For the mucosal immune response to antigens, recruitment of the appropriate immune cells from regional lymph nodes is mainly determined by the cytokines/chemokines present at the site of antigen exposure (Mowat, 2003; Kaiko *et al.*, 2008). Cytokines refer to a group of soluble immunoregulatory proteins that affect a variety of cell functions. Many cytokines can be released locally, both from cells of the immune system and from non-immune tissue (e.g. epithelia and smooth muscle cell in the uterus) (Frankenstein *et al.*, 2006) including oviductal epithelial cells (Fahey *et al.*, 2005).

The present study on the porcine oviduct at different reproductive stages aims to illustrate morphological changes and immune cell distribution, as well as cytokine expression after insemination with various semen components, in order to better understand the regulatory mechanisms.

The porcine oviduct

The porcine oviduct is a paired organ divided into three main segments, isthmus, ampulla and infundibulum (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Different segments of the porcine oviduct

The isthmus is narrow and connected caudally (ad uterus) to the uterotubal junction (UTJ) and cranially to the wider ampulla by the ampullary-isthmic junction (AIJ). The infundibulum is funnel-shaped and has the opening end towards the ovary. Histologically, the oviductal wall is composed of a mucous membrane, the endosalpinx; a double-layered myosalpinx, with inner circular and outer longitudinal smooth muscle layers; and a mesosalpinx, an external serous coat (Fig. 2). The muscle layer is most prominent in the isthmus but becomes thinner in the ampulla and especially in the infundibulum.



Figure 2. Cross section of different segments of the porcine oviduct at the same magnification.

Morphological aspects of the endosalpinx

The endosalpinx consists of an epithelial layer and sub-epithelial connective tissue, forming longitudinal folds along the tube (Fig. 2). The sub-epithelial connective tissue is composed of collagen and elastic fibres that are interspersed with fibroblasts and, to a lesser extent, immune cells. The epithelium includes two major cell types: secretory and ciliated cells. Both cell types reach maximum height at oestrus and metoestrus (Buhi *et al.*, 1997) but epithelial cells in different parts of the oviduct seem to respond differently to hormonal stimuli. For example, a decrease in the percentage of ciliated cells was found in infundibulum and ampulla but not in isthmus during progesterone dominance (luteal phase) compared with oestrogen dominance (follicular phase) (Buhi *et al.*, 1997; Yaniz *et al.*, 2006).

Functional aspects of the endosalpinx

The endosalpinx, especially the epithelial lining together with its secretion, forms the environment in which gamete transport, final sperm maturation (capacitation) and fertilization as well as early embryo development and transport occur (see reviews Hunter et al., 1998; Rodriguez-Martinez et al., 2001). The UTJ and the adjacent segment of the isthmus function as a tubal sperm reservoir (Viring et al., 1980; Hunter, 1984) where spermatozoa in contact with the oviductal epithelial cells maintain intact plasma membranes (Mburu et al., 1997) and viability (Hunter et al., 1998; Fazeli et al., 1999; Petrunkina et al., 2001) during the period preceding fertilization. After ovulation, the oocytes are transported through the infundibulum and the ampulla to the AIJ by ciliary beating, in combination with an interaction (adhesion) between cumulus cells of the oocytes and extracellular matrix on the cilia (Norwood & Anderson, 1980; Talbot et al., 1999). Fertilization takes place in the AIJ (Hunter, 1974) and, thereafter, the fertilized oocytes/early embryos develop and are transported along the isthmus to reach the uterine horn after about 40 h, then being in the 4-cell stage (Oxenreider & Day, 1965; Hunter, 1974).

The oviductal fluid is formed by selective transudation from the blood and a specific secretion from the epithelial cells (Leese *et al.*, 2001). The secretory activity increases during oestrus and decreases during dioestrus (Iritani *et al.*, 1974). In response to oestrogen, the oviductal epithelial cells synthesize and release proteins (Xia *et al.*, 1996). The types of glycoproteins secreted differ between the ampulla and the isthmus (Buhi *et al.*, 1990). Components in the oviductal fluid, such as bicarbonate, are important for induction of sperm capacitation (Harrison *et al.*, 1996; Tienthai *et al.*, 2004), whereas oviductal-specific glycoproteins are suggested to modulate spermzona pellucida interaction and to control polyspermy during fertilization (Kouba *et al.*, 2000; McCauley *et al.*, 2003; Coy *et al.*, 2008).

Immunological aspects of the oviduct

An aseptic milieu must be maintained in the oviduct, i.e. it needs to be free from microorganisms such as viruses and bacteria that may sporadically colonize this upper part of the reproductive tract. Spermatozoa are allogeneic (Beer & Billingham, 1974) and therefore, in the oviduct, successful fertilization and early embryonic development depends on mechanisms that regulate potentially hostile maternal immune reactions to allogeneic spermatozoa and semi-allogeneic embryos without hindering protective immune responses to infectious agents.

Studies on the immune cells in the endosalpinx have been performed in several species, e.g. humans (van Bogaert et al., 1978; Kutteh et al., 1988; 1990; Boehme & Donat, 1992; Suenaga et al., 1998); rabbits (Otsuki et al., 1989; Gu et al., 2005) and small rodents (Parr & Parr, 1985; Dalton et al., 1994). In the bovine oviduct (the isthmic and ampullary parts), changes in the distribution of lymphocytes (DuBois et al., 1980), mast cells (DuBois et al., 1980; Ozen et al., 2002) and eosinophils (Matsuda et al., 1983) during different stages of the oestrous cycle have been reported. In the porcine (1983a) ampulla, Hussein et al. observed higher numbers of immunoglobulin-containing cells at oestrus than at dioestrus. However, few studies have been made on leukocyte distribution in the porcine endosalpinx and related to different stages of the oestrous cycle. In contrast, immune cell infiltration has been widely studied in the porcine endometrium, both in gilts (King, 1988; Bischof et al., 1994; Dimova et al., 2007) and sows (Kaeoket et al., 2001a, b; 2001c; Engelhardt et al., 2002), and found to differ depending on oestrous cycle stages, i.e. to be correlated to hormonal changes (Kaeoket et al., 2001c).

In the sow endometrium, high numbers of neutrophils were found after insemination (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2003c). In contrast, Rodriguez-Martinez *et al.* (1990) found that, after insemination, neutrophils were not invading the epithelium of UTJ and isthmus, i.e. the sperm reservoir, although spermatozoa were present in the lumen. Thus, spermatozoa in the sperm reservoir escape elimination by neutrophilic phagocytosis. However, the mechanisms that create this 'privileged site' for the allogeneic spermatozoa are still unclear.

The distribution of immune cells in the sow endometrium was found to be different according to whether insemination took place before or after ovulation (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2003a). Thus, the time of insemination in relation to ovulation may also influence the immune response to semen in the oviduct due to the hormonal switch from oestrogen- to progesteronedominance after ovulation. In accordance with this theory, the presence of an immunomodulatory cytokine, TGF- β 1, and the TGF- β type II receptor was observed by immunohistochemistry in both the isthmic and ampullary segments of the porcine oviduct. However, the intensity of the labelling for TGF- β 1 and TGF- β type II receptor tended to vary between dioestrus and pro-oestrus (Buhi *et al.*, 1997).

The role of seminal plasma for the immune response

Boar seminal plasma (SP) is a complex mixture of secretions from the testes, epididymides and accessory glands, especially the seminal vesicles (Ekhlasi-Hundrieser et al., 2002; Manaskova & Jonakova, 2008). Data from humans and rodents show that SP can modulate a variety of immunological functions (see review by Thaler, 1989; Kelly & Critchley, 1997; Robertson & Sharkey, 2001). According to in vitro studies, boar SP appears to contain fractions that influence the immune cell response in both suppressive (Stanek et al., 1985; Veselsky et al., 1991; Dostal et al., 1997) and stimulatory (Leshin et al., 1998; Yang et al., 1998) ways. SP proteins have been shown to both stimulate (Rodriguez-Martinez et al., 2005) and suppress (Rozeboom et al., 1999) migration of PMNs into the uterine lumen of sows, and a dosedependent suppressive effect of SP was observed in vitro, on chemotaxis of blood-derived PMNs (Rozeboom et al., 2001). It has been shown in gilts that boar SP induced expression of the cytokines granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-6 in endometrial tissue (O'Leary et al., 2004).

According to Einarsson *et al.* (1980), inseminated components are rapidly distributed into the entire oviduct after insemination. This indicates that substances in semen can affect the endosalpinx in all parts of the oviduct and thereby modulate the oviductal immune response, even though only a small part of the inseminated volume enters the oviduct

It has been shown in humans that SP contains various cytokines and chemokines (Gutsche *et al.*, 2003; Basu *et al.*, 2004; Penna *et al.*, 2007; von Wolff *et al.*, 2007; Ochsenkuhn *et al.*, 2008). High concentration of TGF- β 1, a cytokine generally regarded as an anti-inflammatory agent, was found in boar seminal plasma (O'Leary *et al.*, 2002) and was suggested to be an important mediator of maternal immune tolerance in the uterus (Robertson *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, seminal TGF- β 1 may be of importance for the tolerance for paternal alloantigens in the oviduct as well.

Cytokine of interest to study in the oviduct

The proposed dual role for immunomodulation in the oviduct (acceptance of allogeneic tissue and immune protection against pathogens) suggests a fine balance in the presence of suppressive and pro-inflammatory cytokines, possibly contrasting in different oviductal parts. Because TGF- β 1 has been demonstrated in the porcine oviduct (Buhi *et al.*, 1997), this cytokine, together with IL-10, was chosen as indicators of immune suppression whereas IL-1 and IL-6 were selected to reflect a pro-inflammatory response.

IL-1 and IL-6 are major pro-inflammatory cytokines which promote inflammation and stimulate an acute phase response. At the cellular level, IL-1 is critical for neutrophil recruitment by eliciting expression of chemokines and adhesion molecules (Brandolini *et al.*, 1996; Fukumura *et al.*, 1996; Jobin & Gauthier, 1997; Parsey *et al.*, 1998). IL-6 contributes to the early inflammatory response but also affects the T-cell response towards a $T_{\rm H}$ type 2, and is, in combination with TGF- β , involved in the development of $T_{\rm H}17$ cells, as recently reviewed (Dienz & Rincon, 2009). In the porcine endometrium, the expression of mRNA for IL-6 increased during pregnancy (Chabot *et al.*, 2004) and also after intra-uterine infusion with seminal plasma (O'Leary *et al.*, 2004).

IL-10 is considered to be a potent suppressor of the effector functions of macrophages, T cells and NK cells (Moore *et al.*, 2001). It acts to terminate the inflammatory response and limits inflammation-induced tissue changes by de-activating macrophages and inhibiting their synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (de Waal Malefyt *et al.*, 1991; Fiorentino *et al.*, 1991). A role of IL-10 during pregnancy was observed by Chaouat *et al.* (1996), who found that recombinant IL-10 prevented fetal absorption in mice but not after neutralization with anti-IL-10. Robertson *et al.* (2006) demonstrated, also in mice, that IL-10 modulates resistance to inflammatory stimuli by down-regulating pro-inflammatory cytokines in the uterus and placenta.

The transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) is a multifunctional cytokine that influences numerous cellular processes. TGF- β is traditionally regarded as an anti-inflammatory agent (Shull *et al.*, 1992; Kulkarni *et al.*, 1993; Gorelik & Flavell, 2000) and was recently also found to be an important regulator of T-cell differentiation (Bommireddy & Doetschman, 2007; Rubtsov & Rudensky, 2007; Sundrud & Rao, 2007). At the site of implantation, TGF- β is believed to play a significant role in establishing a maternal tolerance to the semi-allogenic conceptus (see review Godkin & Dore, 1998).

General aspects on leukocyte subsets

The cells of the immune system arise from stem cells in the bone marrow through two main lines of differentiation. The lymphoid lineage produces lymphocytes, natural killer (NK) cells and a subpopulation of dendritic cells (DC). Another subpopulation of DC differentiates from the myeloid lineage that also generates monocytes, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils and mast cells. Most of these cell populations can be distinguished by histochemical

labelling based on their morphology and granular content. For further characterization into subsets, a number of phenotypic markers are used. Most common is the use of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) that react with cell surface proteins identified as clusters of differentiation (CD) antigens, as recently reviewed for porcine cells (Piriou-Guzylack & Salmon, 2008; Ezquerra *et al.*, 2009; Summerfield & McCullough, 2009).

Lymphocytes consist of B and T cells that, typically, are small- to medium-sized cells with densely stained nuclei surrounded by a thin rim of cytoplasm (see Fig. 4a). When activated, B lymphocytes differentiate into plasma cells (Calame, 2001) that locally produce antigen-specific antibodies in the tissue. Plasma cells appear as large cells with an eccentric round or oval nucleus (see Fig. 4c). The chromatin is clumped in a characteristic 'cartwheel' or 'clock face' pattern. By light microscopy, the cytoplasm appears purple due to its large content of ribosomal RNA and proteins which are stained by both acidophilic and basophilic dyes (amphophilic).

NK cells are morphologically large granular lymphocytes, which lack antigen-specific receptors and are, therefore, regarded as a part of the innate immune system. In the pig, NK cells are activated, for example, during placental development and are considered to be important in the early interactions between the conceptus and the maternal immune system (Croy *et al.*, 1998).

Neutrophilic granulocytes, constituting the major population of PMNs, contain highly lobulated nuclei stippled with some purplish granules in the cytoplasm (see Fig. 4d). They are triggered to leave blood vessels as a result of the endothelial cells expressing adhesive proteins that bind the neutrophils to the walls of small blood vessels. The neutrophils are then squeezed out and are attracted to the site of infection. The neutrophils are the earliest phagocytic cells to be recruited in response to inflammation, they engulf and destroy foreign substances, and then, after a short time, die.

Eosinophilic granulocytes are the second major population of PMNs. They are larger than neutrophils and are easily recognized by their large granules which are stained bright red with eosin. The granules contain major basic protein and eosinophil peroxidase, known to have profound effects on tissue and vascular remodeling, for example, when associated with endometrial physiology (Jeziorska *et al.*, 1995; Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001c, 2003c).

Mast cells are long-living cells usually found in connective tissue where they are able to proliferate. The mast cell can be recognized by its content of metachromatic granules when fixed and stained with metachromatic dyes such as toluidine blue (Fig. 4b). Histamine, the major active substance found in the mast cells, is a vasoactive amine, which promotes increased

vascularization, permeability and causes contraction of smooth muscles. A role of the mast cell as a potential regulatory link between innate and adaptive immunity has been suggested (Frossi *et al.*, 2004; Heib *et al.*, 2008).

Circulating monocytes migrate into tissue where they mature to become macrophages. Most of the macrophages are attracted to the site of inflammation after the first line defense of neutrophils. Morphological features of macrophages, i.e. an irregular surface with pleats, protrusions and indentations together with engulfed materials in their cytoplasm, correspond to their phagocytic activities. Macrophages are efficient producers of proinflammatory/regulatory cytokines when activated/deactivated and can also act as antigen-presenting cells.

Aims of the study

The general aims of this thesis on the porcine oviduct were to illustrate histological changes of the endosalpinx, focusing on immune cells, as well as to study effects of inseminated components on the local cytokine response.

The specific aims were to investigate:

- I isthmus, ampulla and infundibulum of the sow oviduct regarding:
 - morphological changes at different stages of the oestrous cycle and anoestrus as well as during early pregnancy;
 - the distribution of leukocytes at different stages of the oestrous cycle and anoestrus, as well as after pre-ovulatory (including early pregnancy) and post-ovulatory insemination.
- Π is thmus and infludibulum of the gilt oviduct regarding:
 - the expression of pro-inflammatory (IL-1 β and IL-6) and suppressive (IL-10 and TGF- β 1) cytokines in these segments;
 - the effects of seminal plasma and spermatozoa on the cytokine responses shortly (5-6 h) and at 35-40 h after insemination, including analyses of cytokines (IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1) in boar seminal plasma.

Materials and Methods

The materials and methods used in the present thesis are described in detail in Papers I-IV. A more generalized description with specific comments is presented below. All procedures involving the use of animals were approved by the Ethical Committee for Experimentation with Animals, Uppsala, Sweden.

Animals and the different experimental parts

All animals used in present study (Papers I-IV) attained natural oestrus and ovulation, i.e. no hormonal induction was used. The studies on morphological changes and immune cell distribution in the oviduct (Papers I and II) together included 53 sows (Fig. 3) with known normal reproductive performance and with a mean parity number 3.4 ± 0.7 (Paper I) and 3.5 ± 0.6 (Paper II). The sows were slaughtered at five different stages of the oestrous cycle and anoestrus (Paper I), at five different stages after preovulatory insemination (AIb), or at four stages after post-ovulatory (AIa) insemination (Paper II). Studies on immune cell distribution in the endometrium had been performed earlier in these sows (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001a,b,c; 2003a,b,c).

To evaluate effects of semen components and/or extender on immune cell distribution and cytokine production in the oviduct, gilts were slaughtered at 5-6 h (Paper III, 16 animals) or 35-40 h (Paper IV, 16 animals) after treatment (Fig. 3). Gilts were chosen instead of sows in order to exclude any potential effects of earlier exposure to semen/seminal plasma. To ensure maturity of the gilts, the studies were performed at the second oestrus at the earliest (Schnurrbusch & Erices, 1979).



Figure 3. Distribution of experimental groups of sows (Paper I and II) and gilts (Paper III and IV) according to the time of sample collection (slaughter); AI = artificial insemination, b = 20-15 h before ovulation, a = 15-20 h after insemination, BTS = Beltsville Thawing Solution

Oestrus detection was done in the presence of a boar (control of standing reflex). In sows, ovarian follicular development and/or ovulation was checked with transrectal ultrasonography (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001c, 2003c, a). In gilts, transcutaneous sonography was performed instead, due to their small body size and narrow rectum. Ultrasonography was done every 4 h after the start of standing oestrus in the gilts (Paper IV), and from 16 h after the start of standing oestrus (2^{nd} oestrus after weaning) in the sows. To confirm the ovarian activity during the different stages of the oestrous cycle/early pregnancy, blood samples were collected one hour prior to slaughter for analyses of plasma oestradiol-17 β (E_2) and progesterone. To confirm the presence of spermatozoa and pregnancy (fertilized oocytes/early embryos), the oviducts were flushed (Papers II and IV) and/or the uterine horns were examined (Paper II) after slaughter.

Semen preparation and artificial insemination

The sows and gilts were inseminated with a standard volume of 100 ml but with a relatively high sperm number (10×10^9 in sows and 5×10^9 in gilts) per dose as compared to conventional artificial insemination (Crabo & Dial, 1992), since the insemination was done only once. Beltsville Thawing

Solution (BTS), one of the most widely used extenders, developed by Pursel *et al.* (1973), was chosen for the fresh semen and sperm preparations. The pure spermatozoa were prepared using a colloid single layer technique provided by Dr Jane Morrell, Department of Clinical Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. This method has been proven to be efficient in separating motile, normal spermatozoa from the rest of the sperm sample (Morrell *et al.*, 2008). For seminal plasma preparation, i.e. centrifugation, as described in Paper III, pooled semen from four boars was used to diminish individual variation. The first 10 ml of the sperm-rich fraction of each ejaculate was removed (total volume ranged between 200-500 ml) and used in another study (Saravia *et al.*, 2008). Thereafter, the rest of each ejaculate was used for the SP preparation employed in the present study.

A standard disposable catheter (GoldenpigTM, IMV, L'Aigle, France) was used for insemination. In practice, the best pregnancy result is obtained when insemination is done within 24 h before ovulation (Soede *et al.*, 1995; Nissen *et al.*, 1997). Therefore, in Paper II (sows), insemination was performed at either 20-15 h before expected ovulation (pre-ovulatory insemination, AIb; their ovulation time was estimated from the results of ultrasound examination after the 1st post-weaning oestrus) or, in Papers III and IV (gilts), at 15-20 h after the start of the standing reflex since the ovulation time could not be predicted. In paper II, one group of sows was inseminated after ovulation (post-ovulatory insemination). The time of ovulation was then determined by ultrasound examination. The interval from ovulation to insemination (15-20 h) was chosen deliberately to be outside the time for normal fertilization.

Cytokine determination in seminal plasma and oviductal fluid (Paper IV)

To determine the presence of some selected cytokines in boar seminal plasma, the content of interleukin (IL)-6, IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1 in pooled SP and SP from five individual boars was analyzed. In addition, the presence of these cytokines in oviductal flushing fluid was also examined (Paper IV). All analyzes were performed with commercially available ELISA kits (P6000, IL-6; P1000, IL-10; and MB10B, TGF- β 1; Quantikine Porcine Immunoassays, R&D System Europe Limited, Abingdon, UK) according to the manufacturer's instruction.

Tissue collection and fixation

Three different segments from the oviduct (isthmus, ampulla and infundibulum) were included in Papers I and II. As the major differences presented in Papers I and II were between isthmus and infundibulum, these two segments were selected for the studies in Papers III and IV.

Samples were immersion-fixed in 3% glutaraldehyde for light microscopy (LM, Papers I and II) and transmission electron microscopy (TEM, Paper I) or in 2% paraformaldehyde for immunohistochemical staining (Papers III and IV). Corresponding samples, frozen by plunging into liquid nitrogen, were stored at -70 to -80 °C until analysis by immunohistochemical staining (Papers I-IV) and for quantitative analysis of mRNA (Papers III and IV). Specimens of lymph nodes (located in the mesometrium) were also collected and fixed as above. The different tissues collected and methods used in Papers I-IV are summarized in Table 1.

Paper	Groups	Sample	Fixation	Method	Detection
I	All groups	Isth, Amp, Inf, Lfn	Glutaraldehyde	LM	Leukocytes
	Pro-oestrus and anoestrus	Isth, Amp, Inf, Lfn	Frozen	IHC	Cell markers
	Dioestrus	Inf	Glutaraldehyde	TEM	Epithelial layer
п	AIb and AIa	Isth, Amp, Inf, Lfn	Glutaraldehyde	LM	Leukocytes
	AIb I-IV	Isth, Amp, Inf, Lfn	Frozen	IHC	Cell markers
	AIb V	Inf	Frozen	IHC	Cell markers
III & IV	All groups Isth, Inf, Lfn	Isth, Inf, Lfn	Paraformaldehyde	IHC	Cytokines
			Frozen	qRT- PCR	Cytokine mRNA
		Frozen	IHC	Cell markers	
IV	All groups	Oviductal flushing fluid	Frozen	ELISA	Cytokines
	Pooled SP Boars SP from individual boars	Pooled SP &			
		SP from individual boars			

Table 1. Methods used for analysis of various immune parameters, Papers I-IV

LM = light microscopy, TEM = transmissible electron microscopy, IHC = immunohistochemistry, Isth = isthmus, Amp = ampulla, Inf = infundibulum, Lfn=lymph node and SP = seminal plasma.

Preparation of oviductal samples for morphological examination (Papers I and II)

Semi-thin sections (3-4 μ m on glass slides), from plastic-embedded tissue samples (immersion-fixed in 3% glutaraldehyde and embedded in water-soluble methylmetacrylate, Historesin[®], LKB, Bromma, Sweden), were stained with buffered toluidine blue and used for evaluation of general morphology and presence of leukocytes in the oviductal tissue (Papers I and II). This method gives a better resolution by LM compared to the use of paraffin sections stained with Hematoxylin and Eosin. In addition, some cells, e.g. mast cells, can be recognized by their content of metachromatic granules.

To further clarify the morphology of protruding epithelial cells and the unidentified intra-epithelial leukocytes (Paper I), transmission electron microscopy was used.

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Immunohistochemistry on cryo-fixed samples was used to characterize leukocyte subpopulations according to their expression of cell markers [CD2, CD3, CD79, CD14, SWC3 (only in Paper I) and MHC class II] in three segments of the oviduct (isthmus, ampulla and infundibulum, Papers I and II). In Papers III and IV, CD8- and CD25-positive cells were detected in two segments of the oviduct (isthmus and infundibulum). In order to phenotype lymphoid cells, the presence/absence of more than one type of membrane molecule (CD marker) is often needed. In addition, the level of expression may vary between subpopulations of cells or due to their activation status, and this fluctuation is commonly used for further characterization of the cells as 'dim' or 'bright', preferably by flow cytometry (see review by Gerner *et al.*, 2009). When using IHC on frozen sections, cells are lost at each washing and unless a cocktail of antibodies can be applied simultaneously, such unspecific cellular losses might confound the results. Therefore, only single labelling was performed in the present study.

Sections from a regional (mesometrial) lymph node were included as a positive control for the CD markers used. However, due to technical reasons, samples from only seven sows in Paper I (four anoestrus and three pro-oestrus) and samples from only groups of AIb I-IV and infundibular part of group AIb V in Paper II, could be run for IHC analysis.

For detection and localization of porcine cytokines (Papers III and IV), paraffin sections from isthmus, infundibulum and lymph node were subjected to IHC. Available antibodies were tested on cryo-fixed sections

but there were no antibodies that reacted specifically to any of the cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10 or TGF- β 1. Therefore, sections from chemical-fixed (2% paraformadehyde), paraffin-embedded tissue samples were tested. An antigen-retrieval method was needed to unmask epitopes which normally are masked during the paraffin embedding process (Cattoretti *et al.*, 1993). Heat-induced antigen retrieval by the microwave technique was used in the present studies. After optimizing the method for the different cytokines, the method worked for IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1 but not for IL-1 β . Alternatively, the levels of IL-1 β were below the detection limit.

For visualization, a standard avidin-biotin immunoperoxidase technique (Vectastain[®] ABC kits, Vector Laboratories, Inc., Burlingame, CA, USA) was performed. The sections were incubated overnight at 4 °C with the primary antibodies (see Table 1 in Paper I and Table 1 in Paper IV) or with isotype-matched negative controls. In the final step, 3, 3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB, Dakopatts AB, Älvsjö, Sweden) was added as chromogen. All sections were counterstained with Mayer's haematoxylin followed by mounting in glycerine-gelatin.

For reliable semi-quantitative comparison on cytokine immunolabelling, factors that may affect immunolabelling were standardized as follows: IHC analyses were always performed within 1 week after sectioning; washing with PBS was always performed in the same manner (4 times, 5 min each); and the time for counterstaining with Mayer's haematoxylin was kept constant. In addition, sections from all treatments were performed in the same IHC run for the respective antibodies and one reference section was always included in each IHC run as an inter-assay control.

Evaluation of morphology and leukocyte distribution

In Papers I and II, toluidine blue-stained sections of the three oviductal segments were examined for morphology and leukocyte distribution (lymphocytes, plasma cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, macrophages and mast cells, see Fig. 4). Leukocyte subpopulations were also examined by IHC (Papers I-IV; see above). The morphological changes occurring in the endosalpinx were evaluated by a scoring system as described in Paper I. Quantitative evaluation of the different immune cells and some morphological parameters, i.e. vessels and mitotic figures, was performed by manual counting. All slides were coded before examination and the counts (on morphological parameters and cells) were performed under LM with $400 \times$ magnification using an ocular reticule divided into 100 small squares placed in one eyepiece of the light microscope (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Morphology of the porcine oviductal mucosa (infundibulum at pro-oestrus, toluidine blue stained section); a = lymphocyte, b = mast cell, c = plasma cell, d = neutrophil, e = intra-epithelial lymphocyte, f = fibroblast, g = mitotic figure, h = nucleated protruding cells and <math>i = cytoplasmic protrusion.

For cell counting, each section was divided into two compartments epithelium and sub-epithelial connective tissue. Counting was carried out over as long a length of the epithelial layer and in as large an area of the subepithelial connective tissue as possible in each section (Papers I-IV). For quantitative comparison, the data were adjusted into 100 small squares, i.e. of positive cells per 2.5 mm for the epithelial length and per 6.25×10^{-2} mm^2 for the sub-epithelial connective tissue area. An advantage with this cell counting method is that it provides information not only about the numbers of different immune cells but also about their distribution in the different tissue layers. However, the manual counting is very time-consuming, which is a disadvantage. An automated method to evaluate IHC-labelling is by computerized image analysis, as has been used, for example, for quantification of pro-inflammatory cytokines in biopsies from the porcine mammary gland (Zhu et al., 2007). However, to facilitate the comparison with the differential leukocyte counts performed, the IHC-labelling of leukocyte subpopulations was also enumerated manually (Papers I-IV).

Different degrees of oedema at various reproductive stages may have affected the cell density in the sub-epithelial connective tissue. The level of oedema was, however, indirectly estimated by the scoring of fibroblast density performed in the present study.

A particular cell type, referred to as intra-epithelial mononuclear cells, with abundant cytoplasm and spherical euchromatic nuclei was found in the toluidine blue-stained sections but could not be further identified. These cells were, therefore, not counted but studied in detail by transmission electron microscopy (Paper I).

Since a high number of cells were positively stained for MHC class II in the connective tissue of all segments, MHC class II-positive leukocytes could not be clearly distinguished from positive endothelial cells. Therefore, the number of MHC class II-positive cells was not counted but their presence was described.

Evaluation of cytokines (Papers III and IV)

With IHC, localization of proteins in different tissue compartments can be visualized, although a proper quantification may be difficult to make even when image analysis is applied (Taylor & Levenson, 2006). In papers III and IV, the presence of cytokines was evaluated semi-quantitatively using a scoring system (see Table 1 in Paper III). By this scoring system, the average results of both the intensity of labelling and proportion of positive cells in each compartment (surface epithelium and sub-epithelial connective tissue of isthmus and infundibulum) were estimated.

Quantitative RT-PCR (Papers III and IV)

Real-time reverse transcription (RT) followed by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is the best technique available for analyzes of mRNA expression for various applications. It is an extremely sensitive and accurate method which allows quantification of very low, and very high, levels of transcripts (see review Giulietti *et al.*, 2001). One can also compare small differences and changes in mRNA levels between samples. In addition, this method is easy to use, producing reliable and rapid results. Therefore, in the present study, real-time RT-PCR was performed both to analyze an endogenous cytokine production after different treatments and to be able to quantify it (Papers III and IV).

Quantitative one-step real-time RT-PCR with a fluorescence-labelled probe was carried out to evaluate IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, and TGF- β 1, for

reasons mentioned elsewhere, as well as the housekeeping genes cyclophilin and hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl-transferase (HPRT) mRNA expression. Reverse transcription of total RNA and PCR amplification was performed using the GenAmp r*Tth* DNA polymerase (Applied Biosystems, CA, USA), *Taq*Man fluorescent probes, and gene-specific primers (DNA Technology, A/S, Aarhus C, Denmark). To allow a comparison between tissues (isthmus, infundibulum and lymph node) in both paper III and IV, one randomly selected sample was included in every run as a reference sample. The amplification specificity was checked by gel electrophoresis of randomly selected samples from each assay. The bands obtained were always found to be of the predicted molecular weight indicating specific amplification.

For real-time RT-PCR, there are two ways to quantify the amounts of mRNA, a relative quantification based on the relative expression of a target gene versus a reference gene, or an absolute quantification, based either on an internal or an external calibration curve (Morrison et al., 1998; Tichopad et al., 2003). To investigate physiological changes in the gene expression, the relative expression ratio is adequate in most cases (Pfaffl, 2001). For relative quantification (Serazin-Leroy et al., 1998), the common standardization is to use a gene involved in the basic function and constitutively expressed in the cells, the so-called housekeeping genes (their expression is believed to be constant even under experimental treatments) (Thellin et al., 1999; Suzuki et 2000). However, numerous studies have shown that various al., housekeeping genes can, in fact, vary under experimental conditions (Schmittgen & Zakrajsek, 2000; Janovick-Guretzky et al., 2007; Tanic et al., 2007). Vandesompele et al. (2002) demonstrated that the conventional use of a single housekeeping gene for normalization may lead to relatively large errors in a significant proportion of samples tested. Therefore, in the present study, the cytokine mRNAs were determined in relation to geometric mean of two housekeeping genes: HPRT and cyclophilin (Papers III and IV).

For RNA isolation, a mixture of cells representing the mean of all cell types from the endosalpinx (epithelium and sub-epithelial connective tissue), as well as from the myosalpinx, was used. The ration between epithelial cells, smooth muscle cells and cells in the connective tissue is not the same for the isthmus and the infundibulum which could confound the result of qRT-PCR analyses. For instance, the isthmus has a thicker myosalpinx than the ampulla and infundibulum. In addition, immunolabelling also demonstrated the presence of the three cytokines analyzed in the cells of myosalpinx. Therefore additional methods such as *in situ* hybridization are needed for a closer tissue-related illustration of cytokine expression.

Statistical analyses

The statistical analyses were carried out using the SAS statistical package (SAS Institute, Inc., Carry, NC, USA). Normal distribution of residuals from the statistical models was tested using the UNIVARIATE procedure option NORMAL. Differences in mean numbers of immune cells, morphological variables or cytokine ratio were tested using analysis of variance (Proc MIXED). The statistical model included the fixed effects of group and segments, and the interaction between groups and segments, as well as the random effect of gilt/sow nested within group. The Bonferroni *t*-test was used to compare least-square means between groups when overall significance for the effect was found. The variables (Paper I and II) in which the distribution was not normal were analyzed using NPAR1WAY procedure (Wilcoxon's rank-sum test) with the effect of group and segment included monofactorially. A *P*-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

General Results and Discussion

The studies included in the present thesis were conducted to elucidate histological variations of the porcine endosalpinx, with focus on immune cells and the effects of inseminated components on the local cytokine response. The first part (Papers I and II) was performed to gain more knowledge about the distribution of immune cells (as identified by light microscopy and immunohistochemistry) in three segments (isthmus, ampulla and infundibulum) of the porcine oviduct. The studies were conducted during different stages of the oestrous cycle (including anoestrus) as well as after pre- and post-ovulatory insemination and during early pregnancy. Furthermore, changes in the tissue morphology of endosalpinx were studied. The second part (Papers III and IV) aimed to understand more about the immune regulation in the oviduct. The expression of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines was studied by IHC and quantitative real time RT-PCR in two segments (isthmus and infundibulum) after insemination of gilts with various components commonly used at artificial insemination (AI).

Studies on sows (Papers I and II)

Morphological findings in the sow oviduct (Papers I and II)

The morphology of the epithelial cells in the endosalpinx changed depending on the stage of the oestrous cycle (Paper I, Fig. 1). The changes (pseudostratification, mitotic activity, secretory granules and cytoplasmatic protrusions) were especially observed in the ampulla and the infundibulum, i.e. in the upper part of the oviduct. Hormonal levels, but not insemination and pregnancy as such (Paper II), seemed to induce the morphological changes. From oestrus and up to Day 11, the hormones (oestradiol-17 β and

progesterone) were at similar levels in non-pregnant (Paper I) and pregnant (Paper II) sows.

Pseudostratification of the epithelial cell layer in the ampulla and infundibulum was at a high level at pro-oestrus and oestrus i.e. the stages when the plasma levels of oestradiol-17 β were high (Paper I). This is in agreement with a study by Nayak & Zimmerman (1971a) who found that oestradiol treatment increased the height of the epithelium in the ampulla of ovariectomized gilts. Ciliated cells comprise the major part of all oviductal epithelial cells (Buhi *et al.*, 1997), and their pseudostratification may reflect proliferation and a preparation of the epithelium for oocyte transport (Odor & Blandau, 1973) and sperm transport (Hunter *et al.*, 1991).

Most secretory granules were found at oestrus, especially in the ampulla (Paper I, Fig. 1), in accordance with the findings of Nayak & Zimmerman (1971b) who observed secretory granules to be more abundant during oestrus in the ampullae and fimbriae of gilts. In all segments of the oviduct, a marked presence of epithelial cells undergoing mitosis was observed at prooestrus (Paper I). This mitosis, in combination with pseudostratification and secretory granules at oestrus, indicate a higher functional activity which, at this stage, is needed for the fertilization process in the oviduct. For instance, the granules of oviductal secretory cells contain glycoproteins which are released into the lumen (Buhi *et al.*, 1993) and it has been suggested that porcine oviductal specific glycoproteins modulate sperm-zona pellucida interaction and control polyspermy during fertilization (Kouba *et al.*, 2000; McCauley *et al.*, 2003; Coy *et al.*, 2008).

Nayak & Zimmerman (1971a) observed that progesterone treatment of ovariectomized gilts resulted in prominent cytoplasmic protrusions in the ampullar epithelium. Abe & Oikawa (1992) also found protrusions, i.e. bulbous processes of secretory, epithelial cells (ampulla and infudibulum) when progesterone was high (i.e. in the luteal phase). In contrast, Palmer et al. (1965) found epithelial protrusions concomitant with a low progesterone level (lactational anoestrus). In the present study, protrusions of ampullar and infundibular epithelial cells were found in non-pregnant sows (Paper I) at various concentrations of progesterone, from high levels (at dioestrus), to low levels (at pro-oestrus, oestrus and anoestrus) and also in pregnant sows (Paper II). According to the scoring, the least prominent amount of protrusions in cyclic sows was found at oestrus (when proliferation is dominating) and early dioestrus. Electron microscopy showed that the protrusions contained cytoplasm but also some nuclei (Paper I, Fig. 3). The appearance of cytoplasmic protrusions has been explained in different ways. Mburu et al. (1996), studying the isthmus of sows, suggested it to be an

artifact as a result of luminal flushing prior to fixation. Abe & Hoshi (2007) suggested that the drastic reduction in the height of ciliated cells during progesterone caused the extrusion of most secretory cells beyond the ciliated cells. In other species, shedding of extruded cells into the oviductal lumen has been suggested to be a process of cell death (Odor *et al.*, 1980; Sawyer *et al.*, 1984; Murray, 1995). The apical protrusions shown in the present study (Paper I and II), are suggested to be a part of the process during which dying epithelial cells are eliminated in the oviduct, since only a very low number of macrophages (that normally phagocytose dying cells) were found in the oviductal epithelium.

Distribution of immune cells in the sow oviduct (Papers I and II)

The most common leukocyte type in the *epithelial layer* of all three oviductal segments, and in all sows investigated, was the lymphocyte (Paper I, Fig. 4 and Paper II, Fig. 2), which is in agreement with observations in humans (van Bogaert et al., 1978; Morris et al., 1986). Only occasional intraepithelial neutrophils and very low numbers of macrophages were found. In the sub-epithelial connective tissue (Paper I, Fig. 5 and Paper II, Fig. 6 and 7), lymphocytes and plasma cells were the most common immune cells. Lymphocytes were found in numbers at least double that of plasma cells, which has been described for the human oviduct as well (Kutteh et al., 1990). The numbers of lymphocytes and plasma cells were significantly higher in the infundibulum than in the isthmus and this difference has not been shown previously, either for the pig or for other species. The numbers of mast cells, eosinophils and macrophages in connective tissue were very low and did not vary between segments or stages/groups in the different studies (oestrous cycle stages, groups after pre-ovulatory insemination or groups after post-ovulatory inseminations). In summary, the most important findings were the clear differences between isthmus and infundibulum, and also that there were very few phagocytic cells in the oviduct, with those found being mainly in the infundibulum.

Subpopulations of cells identified by cell markers

The leukocyte subpopulations were further identified by IHC, although not in all experimental groups due to technical reasons, and only with a limited number of membrane markers. In general, the results showed that CD2positive cells (e.g. T, B or NK cells) were the most common lymphocyte subpopulation in both epithelial and connective tissue layers (Papers I and II). T cells, (CD3-positive cells), probably made up the major part of the CD2-positive cells in both epithelium and connective tissue. In order to fully elucidate that point, double labelling would have been necessary.

B cells, identified as CD79-positive cells, were few and were observed only in the sub-epithelial connective tissue layer. These results agree with those of Boehme & Donat (1992) who also found that the predominant cell type in human oviductal mucosa was the CD3-positive cell, and that few B cells could be detected.

In all groups and segments studied with IHC (Papers I and II), high numbers of cells in the connective tissue were positively stained for MHC class II, particularly endothelial cells, indicating an antigen-presenting environment that is capable of providing strong stimuli to local T cells. Endothelial cells also express MHC class II in other types of porcine mucosal connective tissue such as endometrial (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001b; 2003b) and intestinal (Wilson *et al.*, 1996). This is in contrast to the epithelium of the oviduct (Papers I and II), where few cells were MHC class II-positive, a result that also corresponds to the low numbers of macrophages found in the oviductal epithelium. In the porcine endometrium, where macrophages were found in the surface epithelium (especially around oestrus), a relative high number of cells were positively stained for MHC class II (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001b; 2003b). However, there seem to be species differences since the human oviductal epithelium has been shown to express MHC class II (Bulmer & Earl, 1987; Edelstam *et al.*, 1992; Imarai *et al.*, 1998).

Effect of oestrous cycle stage (Paper I)

Taking all oviductal segments together (isthmus, ampulla and infundibulum), no differences between oestrous cycle stages were found for the numbers of intra-epithelial lymphocytes, IELs, or the main cell types (lymphocytes and plasma cells) in the connective tissue. The numbers of CD2- and CD3-positive cells did not differ between pro-oestrus and anoestrus in either the epithelium or connective tissue. The results show that there is no apparent influence of hormonal changes on the presence of lymphocytes and plasma cells in the oviduct of cyclic sows. This is in contrast to a previous study on the endometrium from the same cyclic sows (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001c), where the infiltration in the endometrial connective tissue of lymphocytes and plasma cells (low numbers), as well as T lymphocyte subpopulations, varied significantly during different stages of the oestrous cycle.

Neutrophils were found in the oviductal connective tissue mainly at prooestrus (Paper I, Fig. 5), when the number was significantly higher in the infundibulum than in the ampulla, and the isthmus where they were seen only occasionally. This result was supported by the IHC labelling for

SWC3, e.g. present on porcine granulocytes, monocytes and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (Ezquerra *et al.*, 2009), at the same stage and in the infundibular connective tissue. The presence of neutrophils further emphasizes the differences between the isthmus and the infundibulum, and indicates that oestradiol influences innate immune reactions in the upper part of the oviduct, which is in agreement with the results from the endometrium of the same sows (Kaeoket *et al.*, 2001c). The very low numbers of neutrophils in the isthmus thus possibly illustrates a local modulation of the immune reactivity that may be necessary to allow certain reproductive events to occur.

Effects of pre-ovulatory insemination/early pregnancy (Paper II)

After pre-ovulatory insemination, neutrophils were found almost exclusively in the infundibular connective tissue, and a significantly higher number was observed approximately 40 h after insemination (group AIb II) compared to the other groups (only occasional neutrophils). This result indicates that insemination activates the first line of defense mechanism in the upper part of the oviduct but not in the isthmus. Since the infundibulum has its opening end towards the abdominal cavity, oviductal response to pathogens after, for example, mating/insemination, may be important for the protection of the abdomen and also, vice versa, i.e. for the protection of the oviduct from abdominal contents. In addition, considering the time in relation to insemination, the response in the oviduct occurred later than in the endometrium (of the same sows) where the highest number of neutrophils (both epithelium and sub-epithelial connective tissue) was found 5-6 h after insemination (Kaeoket et al., 2003c). Moreover, the phagocyte response in the endometrium was more active than in the infundibulum as shown by the presence of neutrophils in the endometrial epithelium and uterine lumen. In the infundibular epithelium only occasional neutrophils were observed. The utero-tubal junction represents a barrier that considerably limits the amount of semen entering the oviduct (see review Rath et al., 2008). Therefore, one reason for the different results seen for neutrophils may be the higher stimulation by fluid volume and/or semen components on the endometrium compared with the infundibular endosalpinx.

In the infundibular *epithelium*, a lymphocyte infiltration due to pregnancy was observed. The mean numbers of IELs in infundibulum after preovulatory insemination/at early pregnancy (Paper II, Fig. 2) were higher than the mean number of IELs in the infundibulum of the cyclic sows (Paper I, Fig. 4). In addition, the infundibular number of IELs was

significantly higher in pregnant sows at Day 19 (group AIb V) than in most of the earlier groups after insemination. The numbers of epithelial lymphocytes positive for CD2 or CD3 were significantly higher in the infundibulum than in the ampulla and isthmus (Paper II, Fig. 4). One effect of insemination/early pregnancy therefore seems to be a recruitment of lymphocytes to the infundibular epithelium.

In the sub-epithelial connective tissue, the morphological examination did not reveal any effect of early pregnancy on the number of lymphocytes, but IHC labelling showed that the numbers of CD2- and CD3-positive cells in all three segments were fewer soon after insemination (group AIb I) than later (groups AIb II-IV, Paper II, Fig. 4). However, this difference was only significant for CD2-positive cells. The higher numbers of CD2- than CD3positive cells in all segments and in both tissue compartments indicate the presence of NK cells. A study on lymphocyte subpopulations in porcine blood and lymphoid tissue has shown that a large proportion of non-T and non-B lymphocytes with CD2⁺3⁻4⁻8^{lo} phenotype have NK cell activity (Yang & Parkhouse, 1996). In man and mouse, NK cells have been classified as CD16⁺CD56^{dim} and CD16⁻CD56^{bright} cells (Moffett-King, 2002). The CD16⁻CD56^{bright} NK cells, referred to as uterine NK (uNK) cells, have a weak lytic activity and constitute the main lymphocyte population in the human and murine endometrium (Moffett-King, 2002; Dosiou & Giudice, 2005). The function of uNK cells is not clearly understood but they are suggested to be important at pregnancy (Yu et al., 1993; Engelhardt et al., 2002), at least partly due to their IFN-gamma production (Ashkar & Croy, 2001). Alternatively, their major function is to act in the local maternal immune response to infections (Le Bouteiller & Piccinni, 2008). In sows, Dimova et al. (2008) recently showed that the number of endometrial CD16⁺ NK cells significantly declined at the attachment phase of placentation and remained relatively low during the course of placentation. In addition, the number of CD56⁺ lymphocytes was highest at the preattachment phase of placentation and dropped at the time of attachment. In contrast to the uterus, the presence of NK cell (lytic or weak lytic) subpopulations in the oviduct has, to my knowledge, never been investigated, either in pigs or in other species, and these cells are therefore obvious candidates for further studies on immune regulation in various segments of the porcine oviduct.

Effects of post-ovulatory insemination

Compared with pre-ovulatory insemination, post-ovulatory insemination (Paper II) resulted in a different distribution of neutrophils in the connective

tissue of the endosalpinx. Neutrophils were found, especially in the infundibulum, in three out of four groups (Ala II, III and V). The presence of neutrophils in the infundibular connective tissue was observed at around 5 h after insemination (group AIa II) compared to at about 40 h after the pre-ovulatory inseminaton (group AIb II). The interval from ovulation to collection of the oviductal tissue (i.e. slaughter time) was the same for both groups AIb II and AIa II (about 15-20 h). One factor involved may be the different hormonal levels at insemination, i.e. before and after ovulation, that indirectly affected the passage of semen. After ovulation, when the progesterone level starts to increase, the UTJ may not limit the amount of semen that enters the oviduct to the same extent as during the pre-ovulatory period. However, the numbers of neutrophils found after the post-ovulatory insemination was lower than after the pre-ovulatory insemination. In addition, neutrophils were found over a more extended period, i.e. also at about 50 h after insemination (group AIa III), compared with the preovulatory inseminated sows (group AIb III). The results indicate that postovulatory insemination influences the pattern of neutrophil presence in the oviduct which may affect the local defense mechanism.

Antibody-producing plasma cells in the oviduct

IgA producing plasma cells have been demonstrated in the sow oviduct previously (Hussein et al., 1983a; 1983b). In the present study, the number of plasma cells in the oviduct was approximately five times higher than the amount found in the endometrial connective tissue of the same animals (Kaeoket et al., 2001c, 2003c). These observations suggest that, under physiological conditions, the antibody-producing plasma cells are more important for the oviduct (especially in the upper part) than for the uterus. Neither pre- or postovulatory insemination nor early pregnancy influenced the plasma cell distribution in the oviduct (Paper II). This indicates that spermatozoa and SP in the oviduct did not stimulate antibody-producing cells during the period studied (up to Day 19 of early pregnancy). It is thereby suggested that they have no specific role for reproductive events but, instead, are important for the defense against pathogens reaching the oviduct, as shown by Kutteh et al. (1990). The latter, studying normal and infected human oviductal tissues collected during surgery, found that the numbers of plasma cells were six- to ten-fold higher in infected oviducts than in non-infected ones.

Studies on gilts (Papers III and IV)

The studies in the sow oviduct showed a clear difference in immune cell pattern between the isthmus and infundibulum. Therefore, these segments were selected for further studies on cytokine expression. Gilts were chosen instead of sows for these studies in order to avoid any influence from earlier exposure to semen and/or pregnancy that could affect the results. The time around oestrus (5-6 h and 35-40 h after insemination) was chosen because this is the period when the oviduct has a high activity and fertilization takes place.

Cytokine expression in the gilt oviduct

In the oviductal segments isthmus and infundibulum of gilts, IHC revealed presence of the cytokines IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1, primarily in tubal epithelial cells (Paper III, Fig. 2 and Paper IV, Fig. 2). Cytokine mRNA expression was found in both segments, with the level for TGF- β 1 being higher than for IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10, both shortly and later after insemination (Paper III and IV).

It has been reported that human oviductal epithelial cells can produce several cytokines (Fahey *et al.*, 2005), and IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β have been found previously at high levels in the oviductal fluid of women (Srivastava et al., 1996). In the present studies of the gilt oviduct (Papers III and IV), endogenous production of the cytokines was indicated by the expression of their mRNAs and was further supported by the flushing samples being positive for IL-10, TGF- β 1 and Il-6 in the control gilts, i.e. those not inseminated (catheter group, Paper IV).

Effects of different inseminated components

No difference between treatments, i.e. insemination with semen components compared with BTS alone (control), was found for any of the cytokines studied shortly after insemination (Paper III). However, at 35-40 h after insemination (Paper IV), the mRNA TGF- β 1 level was lower when only a catheter was inserted (control) than in the inseminated groups (with fluid infusion) but at the same level as in all groups included in Paper III, i.e. 5-6 h after insemination. Taken together, these results show that insemination with SP, with spermatozoa in BTS or with BTS alone, appears to up-regulate the TGF- β 1 mRNA expression at 35-40 h after insemination compared with the control. The fact that a similar up-regulation was caused by BTS as by semen components indicates an effect of inseminated fluid irrespective of any of the contents tested in the present studies.

In accordance with these results, Taylor et al. (2008) found that not only SP but also a commercial semen extender (AndrohepTM) induced TGF- β mRNA expression in porcine endometrial cells at 3 h after insemination. This lack of difference between treatments could be due to several reasons and from the results obtained in Paper IV it can not be excluded that the introduction of fluid itself, i.e. intra-luminal pressure, up-regulated the TGF- β 1 expression. Furthermore, it cannot be ruled out that up-regulation of TGF- β 1 in the oviduct could be indirect via signaling processes started in the uterus. For example, Kusharski et al (2008) showed that exogenous cytokines administered into the uterus could be absorbed and found in the oviductal tissue.

There were no consistent differences in IHC-labelling of the cytokines in relation to different treatments (Papers III and IV), except for IL-6 being slightly higher in the infundibular epithelium of the SP group, and IL-10 in infundibular connective tissue being higher in the SP and sperm groups at 35-40 h after insemination (Paper IV). More apparent effects by SP could have been expected since the fluid has been reported to exert both suppressive (Stanek *et al.*, 1985; Veselsky *et al.*, 1991; Rozeboom *et al.*, 1999; 2001) and stimulatory (Leshin *et al.*, 1998; Yang *et al.*, 1998; Rodriguez-Martinez *et al.*, 2005) effects on immune cell reactivity. Consequently, the presence of immunoregulatory cytokines was examined in samples of boar semen, using commercially available ELISAs for porcine IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1 (Paper IV).

Seminal plasma cytokines

The level of TGF- β 1 in the pooled SP used for insemination of the gilts was surprisingly low (18 pg/ml) although a high variation was observed in ejaculates from the individual boars. A plausible explanation for the low TGF- β 1 concentration in the pooled SP used in these experiments may be that the first 10 ml of sperm-rich fraction was excluded for use in another study on sperm viability at cryo-preservation (Saravia *et al.*, 2008). In boars, the content of SP proteins in the first fractions of an ejaculate (mainly from the epididymides) is higher compared to later fractions (mainly from seminal vesicles) (Lavon & Boursnell, 1975). A possible impact of semen fraction on the concentration of TGF- β 1 therefore deserves further clarification.

In contrast to TGF- β 1 and IL-10 that were found in all samples, IL-6 was detected in SP from only two out of the five boars and in only two out of three samples (at low levels) in each of these two boars. IL-6 and IL-10 concentrations in boar SP have not been reported before, but a similar low level of IL-6 as found in the present study (Paper IV) has been found in

human seminal plasma (Gutsche et al., 2003; Basu et al., 2004; von Wolff et al., 2007). Relatively high concentrations of IL-10 were found in the present study (both individual and pooled SP, Paper IV) compared to the level reported for human SP (Gutsche et al., 2003; Basu et al., 2004). Due to the high within boar variation of IL-10 and TGF-\$1, no significant differences between boars were found. A high concentration of TGF- β 1 has previously been found in boar SP (O'Leary et al., 2002) and TGF-B1 has been suggested to be an important mediator of maternal immune tolerance, both in the pig uterus (see review Robertson et al., 2002) and at the human feto-maternal interface during normal pregnancy (see reviews Rutella et al., 2006; Blois et al., 2007). The level of TGF-B1 found by O'Leary et al. (2002) in boar SP was, however, much higher (about 100 times) compared with the present result. The divergent results might be due to methodological differences in the analysis or in the sampling techniques. Thus, it could be valuable to expand the studies on factors influencing the presence of cytokines in boar seminal plasma, as well as to study their role for oviductal immune regulation.

Studies on sows (Papers I and II) and gilts (Papers III and IV)

Immune cell pattern and cytokine expression in different segments of the oviduct

Several findings in the present thesis show apparent differences between the segments isthmus and infundibulum of the porcine oviduct, illustrating that the two opposing ends of the oviduct have different roles in the reproductive process (i.e. the infundibulum receives and transports the oocytes, while the isthmus has to support the presence of both spermatozoa and early embryos). Consequently, also the immune regulation may vary along the oviduct.

In the sub-epithelial connective tissue of non-pregnant cyclic sows (Paper I) as well as in sows after pre- or post-ovulatory insemination (Paper II), the numbers of lymphocytes (including CD2 and CD3 subpopulations) and plasma cells differed significantly between oviductal segments. The lowest numbers of lymphocytes and plasma cells, as well as very low number of neutrophils, were found in the isthmus.

In the studies on cytokine responses after insemination in gilts (Paper III and IV), the mRNA expression of IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1 (tendency) was higher in the isthmus than in the infundibulum, which indicates different regulatory roles between segments. In addition, higher levels of the



immunosuppressive cytokines (IL-10 and TGF- β 1) were found compared to the pro-inflammatory ones (IL-1 β and IL-6). Taken together, these results indicate a more suppressive status in the isthmus. In addition, the IHClabelling for TGF- β 1 demonstrated both shortly (Paper III) and later (Paper IV) after treatments, a stronger intensity of epithelial cilia in the isthmus than in the infundibulum. In contrast, labelling of the pro-inflammatory IL-6 appeared to be stronger on the cilia of the infundibulum than of the isthmus. These differences in expression of the two cytokines may be related to a need for a local immune defense in the infundibulum, whereas the higher TGF- β 1 in the isthmus may illustrate a down regulation of the immune reactivity at a site where the spermatozoa and early embryos need to be protected against rejection.

IL-1 β mRNA expression was very low in both segments of the porcine oviduct (Paper III, Fig. 5 and IV, Fig. 4). IL-1 is generally known as a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine (Dinarello, 1996). Its important role in infection has been shown in the human oviduct by Hvid *et al.* (2007) who, in an *in vitro* study, showed that oviductal epithelial cells produced IL-1 after infection with *Chlamydia trachomatis* and that IL-1, in turn, could induce IL-8, a neutrophil attractant.

In gilts, the numbers of CD8-positive cells along the epithelium and in the connective tissue area were lower in the isthmus than in the infundibulum, both shortly (at 5-6 h, Paper III, Fig. 4) and later (at 35-40 h, Paper IV, Fig. 3) after treatment. One reason for this result is that CD8 may be related to the higher expression of TGF- β 1 mRNA in the isthmus, since a negative effect of TGF- β 1 on CD8-expressing leukocytes has been shown *in vitro* (Ouellette *et al.*, 1999). In addition, the limited number of cells expressing the receptor for IL-2 (CD25-positive cells, Paper III and IV), a marker for lymphocyte activation (Bailey *et al.*, 1992), found in these areas indicated a low cell-mediated immune reactivity.

As mentioned before, studies on oviducts from both cyclic and inseminated/pregnant sows (Papers I and II), showed higher numbers of lymphocytes and plasma cells in the upper part (infundibulum) than in the lower part (isthmus). In contrast, the expression of both pro-inflammatory (IL-1 β and IL-6 mRNA) and suppressive (IL-10 and TGF- β mRNA) cytokines was higher in the isthmus than in the infundibulum. The opposing patterns of immune cell numbers versus levels of cytokine mRNAs in the isthmus and infundibulum emphasize that cytokines may also have other roles in reproductive physiology than those strictly related to immune functions.

Cytokine expressions in the mesometrial lymph nodes

For mucosal immune responses to an antigen, recruitment of the appropriate immune cells from regional lymph nodes is mostly determined by the cytokines/chemokines present in the peripheral tissue and later on in the lymph nodes (Mowat, 2003; Blois *et al.*, 2007; Kaiko *et al.*, 2008). In the mesometrial lymph nodes included in the studies of material from gilts, the relative expressions of mRNAs for IL-10 and TGF- β 1 was higher than that of mRNAs for IL-6 and IL-1 β (Paper III, Fig. 6 and Paper IV, Fig. 5), but no differences were observed either between experimental groups or at different times after insemination. In addition, the abundant labelling for IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1 (IL-1 β not analyzed) (Paper III Fig. 1 and Paper IV, Fig. 1) in the mesometrial lymph nodes indicates the importance for a T_H type-2 dominance in the regional lymph node. Accordingly, downregulation of a T_H type 1 response is important to allow alloantigen to survive, e.g. during graft implantation (Mariotti *et al.*, 2008) and for pregnancy maintenance (Raghupathy, 1997).

Summary of major findings

- The morphology (pseudostratification, mitotic cells and secretory granules) of the oviductal epithelial cells in the ampulla and the infundibulum varied depending on oestrous cycle stage, indicating an influence of ovarian hormones. The most marked morphological activity was observed at oestrus. The cytoplasmic protrusions of oviductal epithelial cells, found at all stages, are suggested to be a process during which dying epithelial cells are eliminated, since the number of phagocytes (neutrophils and macrophages) in the epithelium was low.
- The numbers of lymphocytes, plasma cells and neutrophils in the upper part of the oviduct, especially the infundibulum, always exceeded those in the lower part, the isthmus. The only change in occurrence observed during the oestrous cycle was for the number of neutrophils in the infundibular connective tissue (higher at prooestrus), indicating a low general influence of ovarian hormones on the infiltration of immune cells in the oviduct.
- Following pre-ovulatory (normal) insemination, the highest number of neutrophils was found in the infundibular connective tissue about 40 h after insemination. In early pregnancy the number of intraepithelial lymphocytes increased. Following post-ovulatory (late) insemination, the neutrophil pattern differed from that observed after pre-ovulatory insemination. The numbers were lower but the neutrophils were present for a longer period.
- The immunohistochemical labelling for IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1 was apparent, especially in the epithelial cells as well as in some cells in the connective tissue of the isthmus and the infundibulum, and also in cells of the regional lymph nodes.

- No effect of seminal plasma and spermatozoa in extender (BTS) compared with the extender alone (BTS) was found on the mRNA expression of cytokines studied (IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10 and TGF-β1) shortly (5-6 h) after insemination. However, later (at 35-40 h after treatment), the TGF-β1 mRNA appeared to be up-regulated by the inseminated fluid irrespective of content as compared to the control (only catheter introduced).
- Endogenous production of the cytokines TGF- β 1, IL-6, IL-10 and IL-1 β in the isthmus and the infundibulum was indicated by mRNA expression. This assumption was further supported by the samples of oviductal flushing fluid being positive for TGF- β 1, IL-10 and IL-6 in the control group. An endogenous production suggests that these cytokines have a physiological role in the oviduct.
- The expression of mRNA for IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10 and TGF- β 1 mRNA was higher in the isthmus than in the infundibulum.
- The mRNA expression of TGF-β1 was higher than the expression of IL-10, IL-6 and IL-1β, indicating that TGF-β1 has a role in the isthmus for tolerance to paternal antigens.
- IL-10 and TGF-β1 and, to a lesser extent IL-6, were detected in boar SP. However, the cytokine concentrations varied markedly between ejaculates within boar.

Concluding remarks and future aspects

The studies of the porcine oviduct presented in this thesis include a number of different parameters, which were assumed to interact. The effects of reproductive stage (oestrous cycle and early pregnancy) and insemination at different times and with different semen components on the presence of immune cells and cytokines were studied in different segments of the oviduct. In contrast to most other studies of the oviduct, the present investigations include the infundibulum. The studies were conducted *in vivo/ex vivo*, and no induction of oestrus or ovulation was performed. The reproductive stages included were judged to be of special interest with regard to hormonal levels and the effects from insemination. The results consist of a multitude of findings and their interpretation answers some questions but also poses many new ones.

The studies show that cytokines of endogenous origin are present in the endosalpinx. The role of the different cytokines, the interaction between them and their potential effect on the local immune cell reactivity however needs to be studied further in more methodical experimental models.

From *in vitro* studies, e.g. on murine and human endometrial cells, it is known that oestradiol can influence cytokine expression. In the present study, cytokine expression was investigated during two "windows", 5-6 h and 35-40 h after insemination at oestrus, and with only minor changes in hormonal levels. Thus, the effects of other reproductive stages, e.g. with progesterone influence, on oviductal cytokine expression, need to be investigated. In addition, the basic expression of cytokines, with no manipulation or treatment, should be included.

When comparing the upper and lower parts of the oviduct (infundibulum and isthmus, respectively) notable differences regarding the presence of immune cells and cytokine expression were found. The single most important role of the oviduct is to provide an environment in which

fertilization can occur successfully. One prerequisite is that the spermatozoa are not damaged by the local immune defense. This is achieved by a local tolerance to paternal antigens in the isthmus. That need could be related to a local production/accumulation of suppressive cytokines such as TGF- β 1 in the oviduct and consequently the influence of internal and external factors on immune regulation in the porcine oviduct need further clarification.

The oviduct must provide protection against pathogens introduced during insemination/natural mating. More neutrophils found in the endosalpinx of the infundibulum indicate that a higher protective level is carried out by the upper part of the oviduct than by the lower part. In the present studies, inseminations were performed with an extender (BTS) containing antibiotics and consequently the oviduct was not challenged with bacterial pathogens.

When comparing pre- and post-ovulatory inseminations, a marked difference in the neutrophil distribution was seen. This difference may be the related to the hormonal status of the female and/or speed and time of semen passage through the oviduct. The proper insemination time in relation to ovulation is important for fertility but the present findings indicate that it is also important for the defense mechanism of the oviduct.

Seminal plasma (SP) can induce both suppressive and stimulatory effects on the uterine immune response. One aim of the present studies was to investigate if this was valid also for the oviduct. This is of practical importance, since SP is removed during the cryopreservation process to produce frozen boar semen for insemination. It was unexpected to find that there were no clear differences in cytokine expression after insemination with SP, with sperm in extender, or with extender alone.

The cytokines TGF- β 1, IL-10 and IL-6 were detected at the analyses of the pooled seminal plasma. The analyses of SP from individual boars showed that the concentration of these cytokines varies between ejaculates. In addition, variations in cytokine concentration between different ejaculate fractions cannot be excluded and should be further investigated.

For the present study, much time and effort was invested in the establishment of the methods (IHC and quantitative real-time RT-PCR) for analysis of immune cells and cytokines in porcine oviductal tissue, generating a "tool-box" for future research. Additional cytokines of interest are for example granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor, GM-CSF (e.g. suggested to be a central mediator for leukocyte trafficking in the porcine endometrium), innate immunity mediators (e.g. IL-17 and IL-8) and $T_{\rm H}$ type 1 cytokines (e.g. IFN- γ and IL-12).

Dendritic cells are a heterogeneous group of potent antigen-presenting cells with the capacity to prime naïve T-cell responses. The important role of dendritric cells both for innate and for adaptive immune response in pigs has recently been given special attention. Because these cells are important regulators of the development of immunity or tolerance to foreign substances, the existence and nature of DC in the porcine oviduct needs to be examined.

It would be interesting to study the NK cell subpopulation since, in the present study, the number of CD2-positive cells was higher than the number of CD3-positive cells, indicating the presence of NK cells. Another subpopulation with regulatory function worthy of further investigation is the CD8-positive cell. For continued studies on subpopulation of T-regulatory cells in the endosalpinx, IHC – double/triple-labelling should be performed.

For the analyses of mRNA cytokine expressions, a mixture of cells representing the mean of all cell types from endosalpinx and myosalpinx was used. However, for a closer tissue-related illustration of cytokine mRNA expression (qualitative and quantitative), other methods, such as *in situ* hybridization, are needed. In addition, the use of confocal microscopy could be applied to visualize the localization of various cell types and their products.

References

- Abe, H. & Hoshi, H. (2007). Regional and cyclic variations in the ultrastructural features of secretory cells in the oviductal epithelium of the Chinese Meishan pig. *Reprod Domest Anim* 42, 292-298.
- Abe, H. & Oikawa, T. (1992). Examination by scanning electron microscopy of oviductal epithelium of the prolific Chinese Meishan pig at follicular and luteal phases. *Anat Rec* 233, 399-408.
- Ashkar, A.A. & Croy, B.A. (2001). Functions of uterine natural killer cells are mediated by interferon gamma production during murine pregnancy. *Semin Immunol* 13, 235-241.
- Bailey, M., Stevens, K., Bland, P.W. & Stokes, C.R. (1992). A monoclonal antibody recognising an epitope associated with pig interleukin-2 receptors. *J Immunol Methods* 153, 85-91.
- Basu, S., Aballa, T.C., Ferrell, S.M., Lynne, C.M. & Brackett, N.L. (2004). Inflammatory cytokine concentrations are elevated in seminal plasma of men with spinal cord injuries. J Androl 25, 250–254.
- Beer, A.E. & Billingham, R.E. (1974). Host responses to intra-uterine tissue, cellular and fetal allografts. J Reprod Fertil, Suppl 21, 59-88.
- Bischof, R.J., Brandon, M.R. & Lee, C.S. (1994). Studies on the distribution of immune cells in the uteri of prepubertal and cycling gilts. *J Reprod Immunol* 26, 111-129.
- Blois, S.M., Kammerer, U., Alba Soto, C., Tometten, M.C., Shaikly, V., Barrientos, G., Jurd, R., Rukavina, D., Thomson, A.W., Klapp, B.F., Fernandez, N. & Arck, P.C. (2007). Dendritic cells: key to fetal tolerance? *Biol Reprod* 77, 590-598.
- Boehme, M. & Donat, H. (1992). Identification of lymphocyte subsets in the human fallopian tube. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 28, 81-84.
- Bommireddy, R. & Doetschman, T. (2007). TGFbeta1 and Treg cells: alliance for tolerance. Trends Mol Med 13, 492-501.
- Brandolini, L., Bertini, R., Bizzarri, C., Sergi, R., Caselli, G., Zhou, D., Locati, M. & Sozzani, S. (1996). IL-1 beta primes IL-8-activated human neutrophils for elastase release, phospholipase D activity, and calcium flux. *J Leukoc Biol* 59, 427-434.
- Brüssow, K.-P., Rátky, J. & Rodriguez-Martinez, H. (2008). Fertilization and early embryonic development in the porcine fallopian tube. *Reprod Domest Anim Suppl 2* 43, 245–251.

- Buhi, W.C., Alvarez, I.M. & Kouba, A.J. (1997). Oviductal regulation of fertilization and early embryonic development. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 52, 285–300.
- Buhi, W.C., Alvarez, I.M., Sudhipong, V. & Dones-Smith, M.M. (1990). Identification and characterization of de novo-synthesized porcine oviductal secretory proteins. *Biol Reprod* 43, 929-938.
- Buhi, W.C., O'Brien, B., Alvarez, I.M., Erdos, G. & Dubois, D. (1993). Immunogold localization of porcine oviductal secretory proteins within the zona pellucida, perivitelline space, and plasma membrane of oviductal and uterine oocytes and early embryos. *Biol Reprod* 48, 1274-1283.
- Bulmer, J.N. & Earl, U. (1987). The expression of class II MHC gene products by fallopian tube epithelium in pregnancy and throughout the menstrual cycle. *Immunology* 61, 207-213.
- Calame, K.L. (2001). Plasma cells: finding new light at the end of B cell development. *Nat Immunol* 2, 1103-1108.
- Cattoretti, G., Pileri, S., Parravicini, C., Becker, M.H., Poggi, S., Bifulco, C., Key, G., D'Amato, L., Sabattini, E., Feudale, E. & et al. (1993). Antigen unmasking on formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections. *J Pathol* 171, 83–98.
- Chabot, V., Lambert, R.D., Laforest, J.P., St-Jacques, S., Matte, J.J., Guay, F., Palin, M.F. & Lessard, M. (2004). Effect of oestrous cycle and early pregnancy on uterine production and expression of immune regulatory factors in gilts. *Anim Reprod Sci* 81, 137-149.
- Chaouat, G., Menu, E., de Smedt, D., Khrihnan, L., Hui, L., Assal Meliani, A., Martal, J., Raghupathy, R. & Wegmann, T.G. (1996). The emerging role of IL-10 in pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 35, 325-329.
- Claus, R. (1990). Physiological role of seminal components in the reproductive tract of the female pig. *J Reprod Fertil Suppl* 40, 117-131.
- Coy, P., Canovas, S., Mondejar, I., Saavedra, M.D., Romar, R., Grullon, L., Matas, C. & Aviles, M. (2008). Oviduct-specific glycoprotein and heparin modulate sperm-zona pellucida interaction during fertilization and contribute to the control of polyspermy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 15809-15814.
- Crabo, B.G. & Dial, G.D. (1992). Artificial insemination in swine. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 8, 533-544.
- Croy, B.A., Whitelaw, P.F. & Engelhardt, H. (1998). The influences of immune cells on the success of pregnancy. In: Bazer, F.W. (Ed.) *The endocrinology of pregnancy*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press Inc. p. 592.
- Dalton, T., Kover, K., Dey, S.K. & Andrews, G.K. (1994). Analysis of the expression of growth factor, interleukin-1, and lactoferrin genes and the distribution of inflammatory leukocytes in the preimplantation mouse oviduct. *Biol Reprod* 51, 597-606.
- de Waal Malefyt, R., Abrams, J., Bennett, B., Figdor, C.G. & de Vries, J.E. (1991). Interleukin 10 (IL-10) inhibits cytokine synthesis by human monocytes: an autoregulatory role of IL-10 produced by monocytes. J Exp Med 174, 1209-1220.
- Dienz, O. & Rincon, M. (2009). The effects of IL-6 on CD4 T cell responses. *Clin Immunol* 130, 27-33.



- Dimova, T., Mihaylova, A., Spassova, P. & Georgieva, R. (2007). Establishment of the porcine epitheliochorial placenta is associated with endometrial T-cell recruitment. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 57, 250-261.
- Dimova, T., Mihaylova, A., Spassova, P. & Georgieva, R. (2008). Superficial implantation in pigs is associated with decreased numbers and redistribution of endometrial NK-cell populations. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 59, 359–369.
- Dinarello, C.A. (1996). Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. Blood 87, 2095-2147.
- Dosiou, C. & Giudice, L.C. (2005). Natural killer cells in pregnancy and recurrent pregnancy loss: endocrine and immunologic perspectives. *Endocr Rev* 26, 44–62.
- Dostal, J., Veselsky, L., Marounek, M., Zelezna, B. & Jonakova, V. (1997). Inhibition of bacterial and boar epididymal sperm immunogenicity by boar seminal immunosuppressive component in mice. J Reprod Fertil 111, 135-141.
- DuBois, J.A., Wordinger, R.J. & Dickey, J.F. (1980). Tissue concentrations of mast cells and lymphocytes of the bovine uterine tube (oviduct) during the estrous cycle. *Am J Vet Res* 41, 806-808.
- Edelstam, G.A., Lundkvist, O.E., Klareskog, L. & Karlsson-Parra, A. (1992). Cyclic variation of major histocompatibility complex class II antigen expression in the human fallopian tube epithelium. *Fertil Steril* 57, 1225-1229.
- Einarsson, S., Jones, B., Larsson, K. & Viring, S. (1980). Distribution of small- and mediumsized molecules within the genital tract of artificially inseminated gilts. *J Reprod Fertil* 59, 453-457.
- Ekhlasi-Hundrieser, M., Sinowatz, F., Greiser De Wilke, I., Waberski, D. & Topfer-Petersen, E. (2002). Expression of spermadhesin genes in porcine male and female reproductive tracts. *Mol Reprod Dev* 61, 32-41.
- Engelhardt, H., Croy, B.A. & King, G.J. (2002). Conceptus influences the distribution of uterine leukocytes during early porcine pregnancy. *Biol Reprod* 66, 1875-1880.
- Ezquerra, A., Revilla, C., Alvarez, B., Perez, C., Alonso, F. & Dominguez, J. (2009). Porcine myelomonocytic markers and cell populations. *Dev Comp Immunol* 33, 284–298.
- Fahey, J.V., Schaefer, T.M., Channon, J.Y. & Wira, C.R. (2005). Secretion of cytokines and chemokines by polarized human epithelial cells from the female reproductive tract. *Hum Reprod* 20, 1439-1446.
- Fazeli, A., Duncan, A.E., Watson, P.F. & Holt, W.V. (1999). Sperm-oviduct interaction: induction of capacitation and preferential binding of uncapacitated spermatozoa to oviductal epithelial cells in porcine species. *Biol Reprod* 60, 879-886.
- Fiorentino, D.F., Zlotnik, A., Mosmann, T.R., Howard, M. & O'Garra, A. (1991). IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J Immunol 147, 3815-3822.
- Frankenstein, Z., Alon, U. & Cohen, I.R. (2006). The immune-body cytokine network defines a social architecture of cell interactions. *Biol Direct* 1, 1-15.
- Frossi, B., De Carli, M. & Pucillo, C. (2004). The mast cell: an antenna of the microenvironment that directs the immune response. *J Leukoc Biol* 75, 579-585.
- Fukumura, D., Miura, S., Kurose, I., Higuchi, H., Suzuki, H., Ebinuma, H., Han, J.Y., Watanabe, N., Wakabayashi, G., Kitajima, M. & Ishii, H. (1996). IL-1 is an important mediator for microcirculatory changes in endotoxin-induced intestinal mucosal damage. *Dig Dis Sci* 41, 2482-2492.

- Gerner, W., Kaser, T. & Saalmuller, A. (2009). Porcine T lymphocytes and NK cells An update. *Dev Comp Immunol* 33, 310-320.
- Giulietti, A., Overbergh, L., Valckx, D., Decallonne, B., Bouillon, R. & Mathieu, C. (2001). An overview of real-time quantitative PCR: applications to quantify cytokine gene expression. *Methods* 25, 386-401.
- Godkin, J.D. & Dore, J.J. (1998). Transforming growth factor beta and the endometrium. *Rev Reprod* 3, 1-6.
- Gorelik, L. & Flavell, R.A. (2000). Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* 12, 171-181.
- Gu, W., Janssens, P., Holland, M., Seamark, R. & Kerr, P. (2005). Lymphocytes and MHC class II positive cells in the female rabbit reproductive tract before and after ovulation. *Immunol Cell Biol* 83, 596–606.
- Gutsche, S., von Wolff, M., Strowitzki, T. & Thaler, C.J. (2003). Seminal plasma induces mRNA expression of IL-1beta, IL-6 and LIF in endometrial epithelial cells in vitro. *Mol Hum Reprod* 9, 785-791.
- Harrison, R.A., Ashworth, P.J. & Miller, N.G. (1996). Bicarbonate/CO2, an effector of capacitation, induces a rapid and reversible change in the lipid architecture of boar sperm plasma membranes. *Mol Reprod Dev* 45, 378-391.
- Heib, V., Becker, M., Taube, C. & Stassen, M. (2008). Advances in the understanding of mast cell function. Br J Haematol 142, 683-694.
- Hunter, R.H. (1974). Chronological and cytological details of fertilization and early embryonic development in the domestic pig, Sus scrofa. *Anat Rec* 178, 169-185.
- Hunter, R.H. (1984). Pre-ovulatory arrest and peri-ovulatory redistribution of competent spermatozoa in the isthmus of the pig oviduct. *J Reprod Fertil* 72, 203-211.
- Hunter, R.H. (1998). Have the Fallopian tubes a vital role in promoting fertility? Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 77, 475-486.
- Hunter, R.H., Flechon, B. & Flechon, J.E. (1991). Distribution, morphology and epithelial interactions of bovine spermatozoa in the oviduct before and after ovulation: a scanning electron microscope study. *Tissue Cell* 23, 641-656.
- Hunter, R.H., Huang, W.T. & Holtz, W. (1998). Regional influences of the fallopian tubes on the rate of boar sperm capacitation in surgically inseminated gilts. *J Reprod Fertil* 114, 17-23.
- Hussein, A.M., Newby, T.J. & Bourne, F.J. (1983a). Immunohistochemical studies of the local immune system in the reproductive tract of the sow. J Reprod Immunol 5, 1–15.
- Hussein, A.M., Newby, T.J., Stokes, C.R. & Bourne, F.J. (1983b). Quantitation and origin of immunoglobulins A, G and M in the secretions and fluids of the reproductive tract of the sow. J Reprod Immunol 5, 17-26.
- Hvid, M., Baczynska, A., Deleuran, B., Fedder, J., Knudsen, H.J., Christiansen, G. & Birkelund, S. (2007). Interleukin-1 is the initiator of Fallopian tube destruction during Chlamydia trachomatis infection. *Cell Microbiol* 9, 2795-2803.
- Imarai, C.M., Rocha, A., Acuna, C., Garrido, J., Vargas, R. & Cardenas, H. (1998). Endocytosis and MHC class II expression by human oviductal epithelium according to stage of the menstrual cycle. *Hum Reprod* 13, 1163-1168.

- Iritani, A., Sato, E. & Nishikawa, Y. (1974). Secretion rates and chemical composition of oviduct and uterine fluids in sows. J Anim Sci 39, 582-588.
- Janovick-Guretzky, N.A., Dann, H.M., Carlson, D.B., Murphy, M.R., Loor, J.J. & Drackley, J.K. (2007). Housekeeping gene expression in bovine liver is affected by physiological state, feed intake, and dietary treatment. J Dairy Sci 90, 2246-2252.
- Jeziorska, M., Salamonsen, L.A. & Woolley, D.E. (1995). Mast cell and eosinophil distribution and activation in human endometrium throughout the menstrual cycle. *Biol Reprod* 53, 312–320.
- Jobin, C. & Gauthier, J. (1997). Differential effects of cell density on 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO), five-lipoxygenase-activating protein (FLAP) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta) expression in human neutrophils. *Inflammation* 21, 235-250.
- Kaeoket, K., Dalin, A.M., Magnusson, U. & Persson, E. (2001a). The sow endometrium at different stages of the oestrous cycle: immunohistochemical study on the distribution of SWC3-expressing cells (granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages). J Vet Med A Physiol Pathol Clin Med 48, 507-511.
- Kaeoket, K., Dalin, A.M., Magnusson, U. & Persson, E. (2001b). The sow endometrium at different stages of the oestrous cycle: studies on the distribution of CD2, CD4, CD8 and MHC class II expressing cells. *Anim Reprod Sci* 68, 99-109. Corrigendum M&M: Anim Reprod Sci 2002, 37, 109-119.
- Kaeoket, K., Persson, E. & Dalin, A.M. (2001c). The sow endometrium at different stages of the oestrous cycle: studies on morphological changes and infiltration by cells of the immune system. *Anim Reprod Sci* 65, 95-114. Corrigendum M&M: Anim Repro Sci 2002, 73, 89-107.
- Kaeoket, K., Persson, E. & Dalin, A.M. (2003a). Influence of post-ovulatory insemination on sperm distribution, pregnancy and the infiltration by cells of the immune system, and the distribution of CD2, CD4, CD8 and MHC class II expressing cells in the sow endometrium. J Vet Med A Physiol Pathol Clin Med 50, 169–178.
- Kaeoket, K., Persson, E. & Dalin, A.M. (2003b). Influence of pre-ovulatory insemination and early pregnancy on the distribution of CD2, CD4, CD8 and MHC class II expressing cells in the sow endometrium. *Anim Reprod Sci* 76, 231-244.
- Kaeoket, K., Persson, E. & Dalin, A.M. (2003c). Influence of pre-ovulatory insemination and early pregnancy on the infiltration by cells of the immune system in the sow endometrium. *Anim Reprod Sci* 75, 55-71.
- Kaiko, G.E., Horvat, J.C., Beagley, K.W. & Hansbro, P.M. (2008). Immunological decisionmaking: how does the immune system decide to mount a helper T-cell response? *Immunology* 123, 326–338.
- Kelly, R.W. & Critchley, H.O. (1997). Immunomodulation by human seminal plasma: a benefit for spermatozoon and pathogen? *Hum Reprod* 12, 2200-2207.
- King, G.J. (1988). Reduction in uterine intra-epithelial lymphocytes during early gestation in pigs. J Reprod Immunol 14, 41-46.
- Kouba, A.J., Abeydeera, L.R., Alvarez, I.M., Day, B.N. & Buhi, W.C. (2000). Effects of the porcine oviduct-specific glycoprotein on fertilization, polyspermy, and embryonic development in vitro. *Biol Reprod* 63, 242-250.

- Kucharski, J., Stefanczyk-Krzymowska, S. & Jana, B. (2008). Absorption of proinflammatory cytokines from inflamed porcine uterus into the uterine venous blood--preliminary data. *Pol J Vet Sci* 11, 9-16.
- Kulkarni, A.B., Huh, C.G., Becker, D., Geiser, A., Lyght, M., Flanders, K.C., Roberts, A.B., Sporn, M.B., Ward, J.M. & Karlsson, S. (1993). Transforming growth factor beta 1 null mutation in mice causes excessive inflammatory response and early death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90, 770–774.
- Kutteh, W.H., Blackwell, R.E., Gore, H., Kutteh, C.C., Carr, B.R. & Mestecky, J. (1990). Secretory immune system of the female reproductive tract. II. Local immune system in normal and infected fallopian tube. *Fertil Steril* 54, 51-55.
- Kutteh, W.H., Hatch, K.D., Blackwell, R.E. & Mestecky, J. (1988). Secretory immune system of the female reproductive tract: I. Immunoglobulin and secretory componentcontaining cells. *Obstet Gynecol* 71, 56-60.
- Lavon, U. & Boursnell, J.C. (1975). The split ejaculate of the boar: contributions of the epididymides and seminal vesicles. *J Reprod Fertil* 42, 541-552.
- Le Bouteiller, P. & Piccinni, M.P. (2008). Human NK cells in pregnant uterus: why there? *Am J Reprod Immunol* 59, 401-406.
- Leese, H.J., Tay, J.I., Reischl, J. & Downing, S.J. (2001). Formation of Fallopian tubal fluid: role of a neglected epithelium. *Reproduction* 121, 339-346.
- Leshin, L.S., Raj, S.M., Smith, C.K., Kwok, S.C., Kraeling, R.R. & Li, W.I. (1998). Immunostimulatory effects of pig seminal proteins on pig lymphocytes. *J Reprod Fertil* 114, 77-84.
- Lovell, J.W. & Getty, R. (1968). Fate of semen in the uterus of the sow: histologic study of endometrium during the 27 hours after natural service. *Am J Vet Res* 29, 609-625.
- Manaskova, P. & Jonakova, V. (2008). Localization of porcine seminal plasma (PSP) proteins in the boar reproductive tract and spermatozoa. *J Reprod Immunol* 78, 40-48.
- Mariotti, J., Foley, J., Ryan, K., Buxhoeveden, N., Kapoor, V., Amarnath, S. & Fowler, D.H. (2008). Graft rejection as a Th1-type process amenable to regulation by donor Th2type cells through an interleukin-4/STAT6 pathway. *Blood* 112, 4765-4775.
- Matsuda, H., Okuda, K. & Imori, T. (1983). Tissue concentrations of eosinophilia in the bovine oviduct and uterus of different stages of the oestrous cycle. *Res Vet Sci* 34, 369-370.
- Matthijs, A., Engel, B. & Woelders, H. (2003). Neutrophil recruitment and phagocytosis of boar spermatozoa after artificial insemination of sows, and the effects of inseminate volume, sperm dose and specific additives in the extender. *Reproduction* 125, 357-367.
- Mburu, J.N., Einarsson, S., Lundeheim, N. & Rodriguez-Martinez, H. (1996). Distribution, number and membrane integrity of spermatozoa in the pig oviduct in relation to spontaneous ovulation. *Anim Reprod Sci* 45, 109-121.
- Mburu, J.N., Rodriguez-Martinez, H. & Einarsson, S. (1997). Changes in sperm ultrastructure and localisation in the porcine oviduct around ovulation. *Anim Reprod Sci* 47, 137-148.
- McCauley, T.C., Buhi, W.C., Wu, G.M., Mao, J., Caamano, J.N., Didion, B.A. & Day, B.N. (2003). Oviduct-specific glycoprotein modulates sperm-zona binding and improves efficiency of porcine fertilization in vitro. *Biol Reprod* 69, 828-834.

Moffett-King, A. (2002). Natural killer cells and pregnancy. Nat Rev Immunol 2, 656-663.

- Moore, K.W., de Waal Malefyt, R., Coffman, R.L. & O'Garra, A. (2001). Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* 19, 683-765.
- Morrell, J.M., Dalin, A.M. & Rodriguez-Martinez, H. (2008). Comparison of density gradient and single layer centrifugation of stallion spermatozoa: yield, motility and survival. *Equine Vet J* 41, 53-58.
- Morris, H., Emms, M., Visser, T. & Timme, A. (1986). Lymphoid tissue of the normal fallopian tube--a form of mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT)? *Int J Gynecol Pathol* 5, 11-22.
- Morrison, T.B., Weis, J.J. & Wittwer, C.T. (1998). Quantification of low-copy transcripts by continuous SYBR Green I monitoring during amplification. *Biotechniques* 24, 954-958.
- Mowat, A.M. (2003). Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3, 331-341.
- Murray, M.K. (1995). Epithelial lining of the sheep ampulla oviduct undergoes pregnancyassociated morphological changes in secretory status and cell height. *Biol Reprod* 53, 653-663.
- Nayak, R.K. & Zimmerman, D.R. (1971a). Effect of estrogen and progesterone on the ultrastructure of porcine oviduct epithelium. *J Anim Sci* 33, 1161.
- Nayak, R.K. & Zimmerman, D.R. (1971b). Ultrastructural changes in porcine oviduct epithelium during the estrous cycle. J Anim Sci 33, 262.
- Nissen, A.M., Soede, N.M., Hyttel, P., Schmidt, M. & D'Hoore, L. (1997). The influence of time of insemination relative to time of ovulation on farrowing frequency and litter size in sows, as investigated by ultrasonography. *Theriogenology* 47, 1571-1582.
- Norwood, J.T. & Anderson, R.G. (1980). Evidence that adhesive sites on the tips of oviduct cilia membranes are required for ovum pickup in situ. *Biol Reprod* 23, 788-791.
- O'Leary, S., Jasper, M.J., Warnes, G.M., Armstrong, D.T. & Robertson, S.A. (2004). Seminal plasma regulates endometrial cytokine expression, leukocyte recruitment and embryo development in the pig. *Reproduction* 128, 237-247.
- O'Leary, S., Robertson, S.A. & Armstrong, D.T. (2002). The influence of seminal plasma on ovarian function in pigs-a novel inflammatory mechanism? *J Reprod Immunol* 57, 225-238.
- Ochsenkuhn, R., Toth, B., Nieschlag, E., Artman, E., Friese, K. & Thaler, C.J. (2008). Seminal plasma stimulates cytokine production in endometrial epithelial cell cultures independently of the presence of leucocytes. *Andrologia* 40, 364–369.
- Odor, D.L. & Blandau, R.J. (1973). Egg transport over the fimbrial surface of the rabbit oviduct under experimental conditions. *Fertil Steril* 24, 292–300.
- Odor, D.L., Gaddum-Rosse, P., Rumery, R.E. & Blandau, R.J. (1980). Cyclic variations in the oviductal ciliated cells during the menstrual cycle and after estrogen treatment in the pig-tailed monkey, Macaca nemestrina. *Anat Rec* 198, 35-57.
- Otsuki, Y., Maeda, Y., Magari, S. & Sugimoto, O. (1989). Lymphatics and lymphoid tissue of the fallopian tube: immunoelectronmicroscopic study. *Anat Rec* 225, 288–296.
- Ouellette, M.J., St-Jacques, S. & Lambert, R.D. (1999). CD8 membrane expression is downregulated by transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta 1, TGF-beta 2, and prostaglandin E2. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 41, 183-191.

- Oxenreider, S.L. & Day, B.N. (1965). Transport and Cleavage of Ova in Swine. *J Anim Sci* 24, 413-417.
- Ozen, A., Asti, R.N. & Kurtdede, N. (2002). Light and electron microscopic studies on mast cells of the bovine oviduct. *Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr* 109, 412-415.
- Palmer, W.M., Teague, H.S. & Venzke, W.G. (1965). Histological changes in the reproductive tract of the sow during lactation and early postweaning. J Anim Sci 24, 1117-1125.
- Parr, M.B. & Parr, E.L. (1985). Immunohistochemical localization of immunoglobulins A, G and M in the mouse female genital tract. J Reprod Fertil 74, 361-370.
- Parsey, M.V., Tuder, R.M. & Abraham, E. (1998). Neutrophils are major contributors to intraparenchymal lung IL-1 beta expression after hemorrhage and endotoxemia. *J Immunol* 160, 1007-1013.
- Penna, G., Mondaini, N., Amuchastegui, S., Degli Innocenti, S., Carini, M., Giubilei, G., Fibbi, B., Colli, E., Maggi, M. & Adorini, L. (2007). Seminal plasma cytokines and chemokines in prostate inflammation: interleukin 8 as a predictive biomarker in chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain syndrome and benign prostatic hyperplasia. *Eur Urol* 51, 524–533.
- Petrunkina, A.M., Friedrich, J., Drommer, W., Bicker, G., Waberski, D. & Topfer-Petersen, E. (2001). Kinetic characterization of the changes in protein tyrosine phosphorylation of membranes, cytosolic Ca2+ concentration and viability in boar sperm populations selected by binding to oviductal epithelial cells. *Reproduction* 122, 469-480.
- Pfaffl, M.W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 29, 2002–2007.
- Piriou-Guzylack, L. & Salmon, H. (2008). Membrane markers of the immune cells in swine: an update. *Vet Res* 39, 1-28.
- Pursel, V.G., Schulman, L.L. & Johnson, L.A. (1973). Effect of holding time on storage of boar spermatozoa at 5 degree celcius. J Anim Sci 37, 785-789.
- Raghupathy, R. (1997). Th1-type immunity is incompatible with successful pregnancy. *Immunol Today* 18, 478-482.
- Rath, D., Schuberth, H., Coy, P. & Taylor, U. (2008). Sperm interactions from insemination to fertilization. *Reprod Domest Anim Suppl 5* 43, 2-11.
- Robertson, S.A., Ingman, W.V., O'Leary, S., Sharkey, D.J. & Tremellen, K.P. (2002). Transforming growth factor beta-a mediator of immune deviation in seminal plasma. J Reprod Immunol 57, 109-128.
- Robertson, S.A. & Sharkey, D.J. (2001). The role of semen in induction of maternal immune tolerance to pregnancy. *Semin Immunol* 13, 243–254.
- Robertson, S.A., Skinner, R.J. & Care, A.S. (2006). Essential role for IL-10 in resistance to lipopolysaccharide-induced preterm labor in mice. J Immunol 177, 4888-4896.
- Rodriguez-Martinez, H., Nicander, L., Viring, S., Einarsson, S. & Larsson, K. (1990). Ultrastructure of the uterotubal junction in preovulatory pigs. *Anat Histol Embryol* 19, 16-36.
- Rodriguez-Martinez, H., Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Tienthai, P., Johannisson, A., Vazquez, J.M., Martinez, E., Roca, J., Sanz, L. & Calvete, J.J. (2005). Boar spermatozoa in the oviduct. *Theriogenology* 63, 514–535.

- Rodriguez-Martinez, H., Tienthai, P., Suzuki, K., Funahashi, H., Ekwall, H. & Johannisson, A. (2001). Involvement of oviduct in sperm capacitation and oocyte development in pigs. *Reprod Suppl* 58, 129-145.
- Rozeboom, K.J., Rocha-Chavez, G. & Troedsson, M.H. (2001). Inhibition of neutrophil chemotaxis by pig seminal plasma in vitro: a potential method for modulating postbreeding inflammation in sows. *Reproduction* 121, 567-572.
- Rozeboom, K.J., Troedsson, M.H., Molitor, T.W. & Crabo, B.G. (1999). The effect of spermatozoa and seminal plasma on leukocyte migration into the uterus of gilts. J Anim Sci 77, 2201-2206.
- Rubtsov, Y.P. & Rudensky, A.Y. (2007). TGFbeta signalling in control of T-cell-mediated self-reactivity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 7, 443-453.
- Rutella, S., Danese, S. & Leone, G. (2006). Tolerogenic dendritic cells: cytokine modulation comes of age. *Blood* 108, 1435-1440.
- Saravia, F., Wallgren, M., Johannisson, A., Calvete, J.J., Sanz, L., Pena, F.J., Roca, J. & Rodriguez-Martinez, H. (2008). Exposure to the seminal plasma of different portions of the boar ejaculate modulates the survival of spermatozoa cryopreserved in MiniFlatPacks. *Theriogenology* 71, 662–675.
- Sawyer, H.R., Olson, P.N. & Gorell, T.A. (1984). Effects of progesterone on the oviductal epithelium in estrogen-primed prepubertal beagles: light and electron microscopic observations. *Am J Anat* 169, 75-87.
- Schmittgen, T.D. & Zakrajsek, B.A. (2000). Effect of experimental treatment on housekeeping gene expression: validation by real-time, quantitative RT-PCR. J Biochem Biophys Methods 46, 69-81.
- Schnurrbusch, U. & Erices, J. (1979). [Histomorphological changes in the uterus of gilts during the first 3 sexual cycles]. Arch Exp Veterinarmed 33, 527-546.
- Serazin-Leroy, V., Denis-Henriot, D., Morot, M., de Mazancourt, P. & Giudicelli, Y. (1998). Semi-quantitative RT-PCR for comparison of mRNAs in cells with different amounts of housekeeping gene transcripts. *Mol Cell Probes* 12, 283–291.
- Shull, M.M., Ormsby, I., Kier, A.B., Pawlowski, S., Diebold, R.J., Yin, M., Allen, R., Sidman, C., Proetzel, G., Calvin, D. & et al. (1992). Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature* 359, 693-699.
- Soede, N.M., Wetzels, C.C., Zondag, W., de Koning, M.A. & Kemp, B. (1995). Effects of time of insemination relative to ovulation, as determined by ultrasonography, on fertilization rate and accessory sperm count in sows. J Reprod Fertil 104, 99-106.
- Srivastava, M.D., Lippes, J. & Srivastava, B.I. (1996). Cytokines of the human reproductive tract. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 36, 157-66.
- Stanek, R., Veselsky, L., Dostal, J. & Sedlakova, E. (1985). Effect of boar seminal plasma and seminal vesicle fluid on porcine lymphocytes. *Arch Androl* 15, 29–32.
- Steverink, D.W., Soede, N.M., Bouwman, E.G. & Kemp, B. (1998). Semen backflow after insemination and its effect on fertilisation results in sows. *Anim Reprod Sci* 54, 109-119.
- Suenaga, Y., Katabuchi, H., Fukumatsu, Y. & Okamura, H. (1998). Distribution and cytological properties of macrophages in human Fallopian tubes. *Acta Anat (Basel)* 163, 10-19.

- Summerfield, A. & McCullough, K.C. (2009). The porcine dendritic cell family. Dev Comp Immunol 33, 299-309.
- Sundrud, M.S. & Rao, A. (2007). New twists of T cell fate: control of T cell activation and tolerance by TGF-beta and NFAT. *Curr Opin Immunol* 19, 287-293.
- Suzuki, T., Higgins, P.J. & Crawford, D.R. (2000). Control selection for RNA quantitation. Biotechniques 29, 332–337.
- Talbot, P., Geiske, C. & Knoll, M. (1999). Oocyte pickup by the mammalian oviduct. Mol Biol Cell 10, 5-8.
- Tanic, N., Perovic, M., Mladenovic, A., Ruzdijic, S. & Kanazir, S. (2007). Effects of aging, dietary restriction and glucocorticoid treatment on housekeeping gene expression in rat cortex and hippocampus-evaluation by real time RT-PCR. J Mol Neurosci 32, 38-46.
- Taylor, A.W. (2008). Review of the activation of TGF-{beta} in immunity. J Leukoc Biol 85, 1-5.
- Taylor, C.R. & Levenson, R.M. (2006). Quantification of immunohistochemistry--issues concerning methods, utility and semiquantitative assessment II. *Histopathology* 49, 411-424.
- Thaler, C.J. (1989). Immunological role for seminal plasma in insemination and pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 21, 147-150.
- Thellin, O., Zorzi, W., Lakaye, B., De Borman, B., Coumans, B., Hennen, G., Grisar, T., Igout, A. & Heinen, E. (1999). Housekeeping genes as internal standards: use and limits. J Biotechnol 75, 291-295.
- Tichopad, A., Pfaffl, M.W. & Didier, A. (2003). Tissue-specific expression pattern of bovine prion gene: quantification using real-time RT-PCR. *Mol Cell Probes* 17, 5-10.
- Tienthai, P., Johannisson, A. & Rodriguez-Martinez, H. (2004). Sperm capacitation in the porcine oviduct. *Anim Reprod Sci* 80, 131-146.
- Topfer-Petersen, E., Ekhlasi-Hundrieser, M. & Tsolova, M. (2008). Glycobiology of fertilization in the pig. *Int J Dev Biol* 52, 717-736.
- van Bogaert, L.J., Maldague, P. & Staquet, J.P. (1978). The percentage of granulocyte-like cells in human oviduct epithelium. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 85, 373-375.
- Vandesompele, J., De Preter, K., Pattyn, F., Poppe, B., Van Roy, N., De Paepe, A. & Speleman, F. (2002). Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biol* 3, 1-12.
- Veselsky, L., Cechova, D., Hoskova, M., Stedra, J., Holan, V. & Stanek, R. (1991). In vivo and in vitro immunosuppression by boar seminal vesicle fluid fraction. *Int J Fertil* 36, 183– 188.
- Viring, S., Einarsson, S., Nicander, L. & Larsson, K. (1980). Localization of the sperm 'reservoir' at the uterotubal junction of the pig *Proceedings of 9th International congress on animal reproduction and artificial insemination*, Madrid, Spain p. 224–227.
- von Wolff, M., Nowak, O., Pinheiro, R.M. & Strowitzki, T. (2007). Seminal plasmaimmunomodulatory potential in men with normal and abnormal sperm count. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 134, 73–78.
- Wilson, A.D., Haverson, K., Southgate, K., Bland, P.W., Stokes, C.R. & Bailey, M. (1996). Expression of major histocompatibility complex class II antigens on normal porcine intestinal endothelium. *Immunology* 88, 98-103.
- 60

- Wira, C.R., Fahey, J.V., Sentman, C.L., Pioli, P.A. & Shen, L. (2005). Innate and adaptive immunity in female genital tract: cellular responses and interactions. *Immunol Rev* 206, 306–335.
- Xia, P., Rutledge, J., Watson, A.J. & Armstrong, D.T. (1996). Effect of estrogen-treated porcine ampulla oviductal epithelial cells on early embryonic development in vitro and characterization of their protein synthetic activity. *Anim Reprod Sci* 45, 217-229.
- Yang, H. & Parkhouse, R.M. (1996). Phenotypic classification of porcine lymphocyte subpopulations in blood and lymphoid tissues. *Immunology* 89, 76-83.
- Yang, W.C., Kwok, S.C., Leshin, S., Bollo, E. & Li, W.I. (1998). Purified porcine seminal plasma protein enhances in vitro immune activities of porcine peripheral lymphocytes. *Biol Reprod* 59, 202-207.
- Yaniz, J.L., Lopez-Gatius, F. & Hunter, R.H. (2006). Scanning electron microscopic study of the functional anatomy of the porcine oviductal mucosa. *Anat Histol Embryol* 35, 28-34.
- Yu, Z., Croy, B.A., Chapeau, C. & King, G.J. (1993). Elevated endometrial natural killer cell activity during early porcine pregnancy is conceptus-mediated. *J Reprod Immunol* 24, 153-164.
- Zhu, Y., Fossum, C., Berg, M. & Magnusson, U. (2007). Morphometric analysis of proinflammatory cytokines in mammary glands of sows suggests an association between clinical mastitis and local production of IL-1beta, IL-6 and TNF-alpha. *Vet Res* 38, 871-882.

Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Division of Reproduction (former Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology), Department of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala, Sweden.

The research was financially supported by the Swedish Meat Producers Research and Development Foundation ('Köttböndernas Forskningsprogram') and the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (FORMAS). The Royal Thai government and Khon Kaen University are acknowledged for grant and study leave.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the following persons:

Firstly, to all the heads of the department/division during my stay as PhD student: Professors Hans Kindahl, Heriberto Rodríguez-Martínez and Lennart Söderquist, for providing all necessary facilities for the study, not to forget the 'coffee-room'

Anne-Marie Dalin, my main supervisor, for accepting me as a PhD student. Your comments, suggestions and guidance, face-to-face when sitting together during my Master and PhD studies, improved my scientific capability. You have always had time to scrutinize a hundred versions(!) of my manuscripts. Many thanks for your endless efforts and patience including encouragement and taking care of my academic and social life. I will never forget the kindness and warmth that you and Göran provided me and my family.

My co-supervisor, Elisabeth Persson, who despite being very busy, helped me a lot with the interpretation of the IHC results and the manuscripts. I

learnt how tricky morphological methods can be! I also appreciate your constructive criticism and your patience with my Thai-English language style!.

My co-supervisor and an expert in immunology, Caroline Fossum; I am very grateful for your valuable comments and expert suggestions on the gilt project and the manuscripts. Thank you for always supporting my work.

Mikael Berg, my co-author and advisor for the 'qPCR' analysis, for providing me with access to the facilities at the Division of Parasitology and Virology and for supervision during the analyses. I very much appreciate the guidance and answer you gave to all my technical questions.

Nils Lundeheim, my forever statistical teacher! Thank you for your endless support with solutions to statistical problems and for giving me new statistical knowledge whenever I came to you.

Kampon Kaeket, my co-author, for carrying out the clinical part of the experiment in the sows and the teaching me how to count leukocytes.

The late Åsa Jansson, for excellent technical assistance and preparations for IHC and TEM. I will always keep you in grateful memory.

Marianne Ekwall, for excellent technical assistance with the plastic embedded slides and Hans Ekwall, for excellent assistance in TEM.

Annika Rikberg for the excellent paraffin sections, technical support in the lab and general assistance, Christina Nilsson, for excellent cryo-sections, Robert Kruse for the ELISA analysis on cytokines and also Kristina Karlström for your assistance with the cryo-sectioning, Karin Selin-Wretling for your kindness, for teaching me sperm counting, BTS preparation, and for help in general.

Yaohong, for your very efficient RNA extracting protocol, for teaching me how to behave like a good technician in the clean lab, for excellent cooperation and sharing experience in IHC and PCR analysis as well as for your effort in pushing me to have a life also outside the KC building and for sharing a great time in Sweden. Lihong, for your expert instruction with qPCR, and the DNase staffs.

Jane Morrell, for kindly providing the sperm selection method and also for your very rapid help with linguistic corrections of the last versions of the manuscripts and the thesis.



Karin Östensson, director of the 'SIPAR', for giving me the great opportunity to start with the Master program, Stig Einarsson, for your kindness and interest in my work, Ulf Magnusson, Renée Båge and Magareta Wallgren, for your concern and encouragement, Arne Persson, for also giving me a lot of knowledge about pig health and management in pig production in Sweden.

Birgitta Berner and Marie Sundberg for your administrative assistance, Carola Jansson and Mari Wallbring, for taking care of the gilts and helping me in the barn, Kjell-Åke Ahlin, the IT coordinator, for your help as well as really understanding my hobby in this technology and providing a lot of 'useful hard- and soft-ware stuffs'.

Ann-Sofi, for your kindness and enthusiasm, Nok (Seri), for your concern and delicious meals, Ylva Brandt and Andrea for sharing a valuable experience in ultrasonography of your sows, and also to all the research students, past and present, at our division, Linda, Ylva H, Ulrika, Bhupi, Triin, Guillermo, Kalle, Laurinda, Nu, Chain, A, Bunlue, Paisan, Yoseph, Sara, Kristina, Bojana, Lakic, Aom, Fikre, Zaman, Anas, Johanna, Lily, Nort, Hitesh, Ants, Antonio and Ingrid for friendly chats and fun activity, as well as to all other students in Uppsala and, for sharing the great time in Sweden, Ramon, Mark, Louise, Pim, Hao, Jo!, Aran, Ae, Tor, Nong, Seng!, P' Or, Boyd, Ma, Alice, Noi-na, Khom, Ping, Jeab, Joy!, Pum, Jak, Thieu, M and

My Thai friends: P' On, Rasse, P' Aew, Per, P' Jang, P' Tuk, Noi, Pa' Nang, Pa' Sirintrip, Pa' Da, Na' Jumlong, P' Nid, P' Ummara, P' Tim and Khun Kongtap for your kindness and encouragement, especially P' Slil, P' Tassanee and Pa' Pha for also helping me in many ways.

My parents and parents-in-law for a taking care of my sons, for your love and encouragement.

Last but greatest debt is to my family, in particular to my wife, Nok, for taking care of our naughty sons and for taking all the responsibilities during my absence. Without you I could never have fulfilled my PhD. Thank you for your endless patience and love. To my sons, Tee (15) and Poo (1), for being our sons. You are my happiness.... In in use Andianna and ...